Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Mark Yulis

Date

Desmosomal Cadherin Cleavage in the Regulation of Apoptosis in the Context of Inflammation

By

Mark Yulis Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology

> Asma Nusrat, M.D. Advisor

Michael H. Koval, Ph.D. Advisor

Anita H. Corbett, Ph.D. Committee Member

Lawrence H. Boise, Ph.D. Committee Member

Paula M. Vertino, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Desmosomal Cadherin Cleavage in the Regulation of Apoptosis in the Context of Inflammation

By

Mark Yulis B.S., Muhlenberg College, 2013

Advisor: Asma Nusrat, M.D. Advisor: Michael H. Koval, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2018

Abstract

Desmosomal Cadherin Cleavage in the Regulation of Apoptosis in the Context of Inflammation By Mark Yulis

The regulation of apoptosis sensitivity is critical to the maintenance of physiological homeostasis and dysregulation of apoptosis is known to be involved in the pathobiology or progression of many disease states. The single pass, transmembrane proteins of the cadherin family have been appreciated as important proteins that regulate intercellular adhesion. In addition to this critical function, cadherins contribute to important signaling events that control cellular homeostasis. Much of the work on cadherin mediated signaling focuses on classical cadherins or on specific disease states such as pemphigus vulgaris. Cadherin mediated signaling has been shown to play critical roles during development, in proliferation, apoptosis, disease pathobiology and beyond. We have previously reported that select pro-inflammatory cytokines induce ectodomain cleavage of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein-2 (Dsg2) and shedding of the resulting extracellular fragment from intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). The Dsg2 extracellular cleaved fragment (Dsg2 ECF) functions to induce paracrine pro-proliferative signaling in epithelial cells. The goal of this study was to further understand the role of desmoglein cleavage in the regulation of enterocyte homeostasis. To address this, we focused on characterizing Dsg2 intracellular cleavage and the functional effects of the resultant intracellular cleaved fragment. In this study, we showed that exposure of IECs to proinflammatory cytokines interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) resulted in Dsg2 intracellular cleavage and generation of a ~55kDa fragment (Dsg2 ICF). Dsg2 intracellular cleavage is mediated by caspase-8 and occurs prior to Dsg2 extracellular cleavage and the execution of apoptosis. Expression of exogenous Dsg2 ICF in model IECs increased sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli and apoptosis execution. Additionally, expression of the Dsg2 ICF repressed the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member proteins Bcl-XL and Mcl1. Taken together, our findings identify a novel mechanism by which pro-inflammatory mediators induce cleavage of Dsg2 to activate apoptosis and eliminate damaged cells, while also promoting release of Dsg2 ECF that enhances proliferation of neighboring cells and epithelial barrier recovery. These findings expand our understanding of the signaling capabilities of desmosomal cadherins and provide a new pathway through which apoptosis can be altered in the context of intestinal inflammation.

Desmosomal Cadherin Cleavage in the Regulation of Apoptosis in the Context of Inflammation

By

Mark Yulis B.S., Muhlenberg College, 2013

Advisor: Asma Nusrat, M.D. Advisor: Michael H. Koval, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2018

Acknowledgements:

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Asma Nusrat, for giving me the guidance, resources, and expertise to perform this research and develop my project. Compared to the person I was when I entered graduate school, I have matured and learned so many valuable lessons about being a scientist as well as about being a good and successful person because of her guidance. She is the best type of graduate mentor, tough but fair. Making sure I had the tools to succeed while also ensuring that I knew how to properly use those tools independently. To Dr. Charles Parkos I want to extend many thanks for providing valuable feedback, guidance, and perspective to my data and experimental design over the years. I want to thank the members of my two (yes two) thesis committees: Dr. Michael Koval, Dr. Lawrence Boise, Dr. Anita Corbett, and Dr. Paula Vertino at Emory and Dr. Zaneta Nikolovska-Coleska, Dr. Ann Miller, Dr. Ben Margolis, and Dr. David Antonetti at the University of Michigan. You all provided me with valuable feedback and guidance throughout the course of my graduate education and have always been a great source of knowledge and expertise. I also want to thank Dr. Boise specifically for assisting in identifying the putative caspase-8 cleavage sites in Dsg2. Your contributions in identifying this Dsg2 cleavage site were vital. I must thank Dr. Michael Koval. First, for opening the door of his lab to me for months so I could finish my second year of classes at Emory. Second, I need to thank you for being an invaluable source of knowledge and experience regarding navigating the highly administratively complex task of being a graduate student in Atlanta, GA while performing research in Ann Arbor, MI.

I would like to thank all of the past and present Nusrat/Parkos lab members who have helped me through this journey. Above all, I must thank Dr. Miguel Quiros, who from the moment I joined the lab as a rotation student has helped me in more ways than I could ever count. Our discussions and brainstorming on experiments, data, data analysis, and scientific ideas/concepts have been invaluable over these years. In addition, your guidance and reassurance in times of struggle and self-doubt helped me through many trying times. I have come to see you as an important mentor to me. I want to thank Dr. Dennis Kusters for being a great collaborator and for helping me appreciate cadherin biology from a new angle. I want to thank Dr. Monique O'Leary for putting up with me asking her constant questions and for helping me navigate the politics of science. I want to thank Dr. Roland Hilgarth for many important discussions and brainstorming sessions about experimental design and data analysis as well as being there when I needed someone to talk to about the stresses of science. Thank you Dr. Miguel Quiros, Dr. Monique O'Leary, Dr. Roland Hilgarth, Dr. Shuling Fan, Dr. Jen Brazil, Dr. Dennis Kusters, Dr. Anny-Claude Luissant, Dr. Veronica Ascutia, Dr. Attila Farkas, and Dr. Jason Matthews and the many others who have helped me for invaluable technical guidance and training that made the work in this dissertation possible. I also want to thank Robin Kulkel for your help and patience in making Figures 1.4-1.6 beautiful.

I want to thank those who led me to choose a career in science. Thank you to my high school science teachers especially Mr. Fracchia and Mr. Turof. My professors at Muhlenberg College, especially Dr. Marten Edwards, Dr. Keri Collabroy, Dr. Amy Hark Dr. Donald Shive, and Dr. Charles Russell. I want to thank Dr. Keri Collabroy specifically for providing me with the tools to succeed in my first years of graduate school and the ability to use them independently. I must thank my first PI, Dr. Marten Edwards. My experiences in your lab as well as your guidance and enthusiasm solidified in my mind that I wanted to be a scientific researcher. I want to thank all of the professors who taught me in the Foundations class my first year in the BCDB program at Emory University for providing me with such an amazing graduate education and for preparing me for the type of thinking necessary in independent research.

I want to thank my loved ones for being there for me during this crazy journey. To my parents, I give many thanks for their guidance and optimism. To my friends, thank you for being there when I needed to not think about science for a while. I want to especially thank my girlfriend, Melissa Newman, for being there for me these last seven months. Your kindness, patience, and support as well as your being such a positive force in my life has made arguably the hardest part of this whole experience seem effortless.

Table of Contents:

Chapter 1: Introduction	1	
Mechanisms and pathways of apoptosis	2	
Regulation of apoptosis sensitivity by the Bcl-2 family of proteins		
Desmosomal junctions	7	
Overview of Cadherins as Signaling Mediators	7	
Cadherin mediated regulation of proliferation	8	
Cadherin mediated modulation of apoptosis	11	
Cadherin mediated control of cellular differentiation	12	
Other signaling mediated by cadherins	14	
Cadherin mediated signaling in the context of disease	16	
Cadherin intracellular fragment mediated signaling	20	
Cadherin signaling in cells lacking intercellular adhesion	21	
The importance of epithelial apoptosis in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD)		
pathogenesis	22	
Scope and significance of dissertation	24	
Figures and table	26	
Chapter 2: Desmosomal Cadherin Cleavage and Modulation of Enterocyte		
Apoptosis in the Context of Inflammation	38	
Introduction	39	
Results	41	
TNF-α and IFN-γ promote Dsg2 Intracellular Cleavage	41	
Calpain Inhibition Leads to Accumulation of Active Caspase-8 and Promotes		
Dsg2 ICF Generation	43	
Caspase-8 is Responsible for Generating the Dsg2 ICF	44	
TRAIL promotes Dsg2 cleavage analogous to TNF- $lpha$ and IFN- γ	45	
Expression of the Dsg2 ICF sensitizes epithelial cells to Apoptosis	45	
Discussion	47	
Figures	53	
Experimental procedures	65	
Chapter 3: Discussion	71	
A model for Dsg2 cleavage as a beneficial signaling mechanism during		
inflammation	73	
Dependency of Dsg2 ECF generation on Dsg2 ICF generation	75	
Mechanistic basis for Dsg2 ICF signaling	75	
The implications of cadherin intracellular fragments as independent signaling		
mediators	80	
Additional functions of Dsg2 ICF signaling	81	
The role of inflammation in Dsg2 cleavage	83	
Dsg2 cleavage during intrinsic apoptosis	84	
Placing the Dsg2 ICF and its signaling functions into the broader context of		
cadherin mediated signaling	85	

Final conclusions

References

88

Figures and Table:

Figure 1.1: Basic model of apoptosis initiator pathways.	26
Figure 1.2: Model of Bcl-2 family regulation of MOMP.	27
Figure 1.3: Epithelial desmosomes.	28
Figure 1.4: Modalities of cadherin mediated signaling.	29
Figure 1.5: Examples of cleavage dependent cadherin mediated signaling.	31
Figure 1.6: Examples of cadherin mediated signaling dependent on junctional residence and adhesive state.	32
Figure 1.7: Intestinal epithelial barrier and barrier compromise in mucosal inflammation.	33
Table 1.1: Overview of cadherin mediated signaling.	34
Figure 2.1: Characterization of T-84 response to TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment.	53
Figure 2.2: TNF- α and IFN- γ promote Dsg2 intracellular and extracellular cleavage.	54
Figure 2.3: Re-localization of Dsg2 C-terminal tail in response to TNF- α and IFN- γ .	56
Figure 2.4: Effects of inhibition of candidate proteases on Dsg2 cleavage.	57
Figure 2.5: Caspase-8 is responsible for Dsg2 ICF generation.	58
Figure 2.6: TRAIL treatment induces Dsg2 ECF and ICF generation similarly to TNF- α and IFN- γ .	59
Figure 2.7: Exogenous expression of Myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF sensitizes cells to apoptosis through downregulation of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members.	60
Figure 2.8: Annexin V staining also indicates increased apoptosis sensitivity in cells expressing Dsg2 ICF.	61
Figure 2.9: Dsg2 ICF generation sensitizes IECs to apoptosis.	62
Figure 2.10: Full lanes of blots for C-terminal and N-terminal Dsg2.	63
Figure 2.11: Fractionation controls for Figure 2.7D.	64
	 Figure 1.2: Model of Bcl-2 family regulation of MOMP. Figure 1.3: Epithelial desmosomes. Figure 1.4: Modalities of cadherin mediated signaling. Figure 1.5: Examples of cleavage dependent cadherin mediated signaling. Figure 1.6: Examples of cadherin mediated signaling dependent on junctional residence and adhesive state. Figure 1.7: Intestinal epithelial barrier and barrier compromise in mucosal inflammation. Table 1.1: Overview of cadherin mediated signaling. Figure 2.1: Characterization of T-84 response to TNF-α and IFN-γ treatment. Figure 2.2: TNF-α and IFN-γ promote Dsg2 intracellular and extracellular cleavage. Figure 2.3: Re-localization of Dsg2 C-terminal tail in response to TNF-α and IFN-γ. Figure 2.4: Effects of inhibition of candidate proteases on Dsg2 cleavage. Figure 2.5: Caspase-8 is responsible for Dsg2 ICF generation. Figure 2.6: TRAIL treatment induces Dsg2 ECF and ICF generation similarly to TNF-α and IFN-γ. Figure 2.7: Exogenous expression of Myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF sensitizes cells to apoptosis through downregulation of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Figure 2.8: Annexin V staining also indicates increased apoptosis sensitivity in cells expressing Dsg2 ICF. Figure 2.9: Dsg2 ICF generation sensitizes IECs to apoptosis. Figure 2.10: Full lanes of blots for C-terminal and N-terminal Dsg2.

Abbreviations:

ALPS	Autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome
CD	Crohn's Disease
Ch-IP	Chromatin-immunoprecipitation
Co-IP	Co-immunoprecipitation
CTF2	C-terminal fragment 2
DAPT	N-[N-(3,5-Difluorophenacetyl)-L-alanyl]-S-phenylglycine t-butyl
	ester
DD	Death Domain
DISC	Death Inducing Signaling Complex
Dsg2 ECF	Desmoglein-2 extracellular fragment
Dsg2 ICF	Desmoglein-2 intracellular fragment
DSS	Dextran sulfate sodium
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
EoE	Eosinophilic esophagitis
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
IEC	Intestinal epithelial cell
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MOMP	Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
NTF	N-terminal fragment
PF	Pemphigus foliaceus
PV	Pemphigus vulgaris
qPCR	quantitative PCR
RNAseq	RNA sequencing
RUD	Repeated unit domain
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SPPK	Striate palmoplantar keratoderma
TNBS	2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid
UC	Ulcerative colitis
UV	Ultraviolet
UVB	Ultraviolet B
WT	Wild type

Chapter 1: Introduction

A portion of this chapter is adapted from the following published work:

Yulis, M., Kusters D.H.M., Nusrat, A. (2018) *J. Physiol.* "Cadherins: Cellular adhesive molecules acting as signaling mediators"

Mechanisms and pathways of apoptosis:

Regulated cell death is important to maintaining tissue homeostasis. There are many forms of regulated cell death, including the classic non-lytic apoptosis, the regulated cellular swelling and bursting of necroptosis, and the inflammasome mediated pyroptosis. Apoptosis, the most well understood form of programmed cell death is often thought of as the yin to proliferation's yang. In development, the timed and precise death of numerous cells of varying types in myriad locations throughout the developing embryo is necessary for embryonic viability in multicellular organisms (1). Apoptosis is vital in the establishment of many key bodily functions such as the development of the immune system (2). For example, patients with certain mutations or defects in caspase-10 and/or other mediators of extrinsic apoptosis such as the Fas Ligand (FasL)/Fas Receptor (FasR) ligand/receptor pair develop Autoimmune LymphoProliferative Syndrome (ALPS) due to the inability to clear excess proliferative lymphocytes or overactive immune cells following the initial proliferative bursts during development of the immune system (3-5). Physiological apoptosis ensures the balance between cell growth and cell death as well as prevents damaged or altered cells from posing harm to the organism. The importance of apoptosis is punctuated by the fact that dysregulation of apoptosis is important in the development of several human pathologies (3-9). Without the tight regulation of apoptosis, multicellular life would not be able to exist.

Key players in the execution and regulation of apoptosis are the caspase family of cysteine proteases that target aspartate residues, which is the origin of their now famous name Cysteine ASPartate proteASE. Arguably, the most famous celebrities of the family are the executioner caspases, caspases-3 and -7 whose activation is required for

essentially all apoptosis to occur (10). Their activation leads to the cleavage of many key targets, the direct consequences of which are the physical and biochemical characteristics of apoptosis execution (10). However, as is always true, the celebrities would not accomplish anything without the arguably more important work of their phenomenal supporting actors, the initiator caspases. Their work is multifaceted, complex, and tightly regulated. Not only do they need to distinguish between different types of apoptotic stimuli, they also have to do so in a way that is simultaneously able to be activated very quickly but also reversed if necessary. The initiator caspases are key players in the regulation of apoptosis sensitivity whereas, for the most part, the executioner caspases are not. This is largely due to the mechanistic nature of apoptosis itself and where each of these different caspases act within these mechanisms.

There are three primary pathways that together make up the core mechanistic framework of apoptosis. At the very top of the apoptotic cascade are the two activation or sensor pathways for apoptosis, the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (**Figure 1.1**). The intrinsic pathway is activated, as its name implies, by apoptotic stimuli that originate from within the cell (**Figure 1.1A**) (10). There are many stimuli that can activate the intrinsic pathway. These include but are not limited to stimuli that result in some form of excessive DNA damage (i.e. radiation or free radicals), viral or bacterial infections that can make the infected cell pose a threat to the organism, deprivation of various factors that are required for proper cellular function (i.e. serum or hormones), or a great many situations that cause stress to the cell and make it difficult for the cell to function (i.e. excessive temperature shock, exposure to toxins, hypoxia) (11-14). These stimuli, through various mechanisms lead to the mitochondria undergoing a process known as mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization or MOMP (15). MOMP involves the formation of protein pores that allow for the release of mitochondrial components that are required for apoptosis activation. These include proteins like Smac/DIABLO, HtrA2/Omi, etc., which are inhibitors of proteins that inhibit apoptosis (16-18). The most well-known protein released during MOMP is cytochrome c, which is a critical component of a structure known as the apoptosome (19). The apoptosome is a multi-subunit complex of repeating units of apaf1 bound to cytochrome c (20). The main function of the apoptosome is to bind to multiple copies of the pro-caspase-9 zymogen bringing them into close proximity thereby promoting their self-cleavage and full activation (20). Once caspase-9 is active it is able to then cleave and activate caspase-3 and apoptosis execution can proceed (10).

As the intrinsic pathway responds to apoptotic stimuli that originate from within the cell, the extrinsic pathway responds to stimuli that originate from outside the cell in question (**Figure 1.1B**). There are three main stimuli/receptor pairs that account for essentially all of extrinsic apoptosis: TNF- α /TNFR1, TNF- α Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL)/Death Receptors 4 and 5 (DR4 and 5), and FasL)/FasR (21). All death receptors contain a characteristic motif known as a death domain (DD) which allow them to form protein complexes that have an analogous function to the apoptosome in intrinsic apoptosis (21). For FasR and DR4/5 this complex is the Death Inducing Signaling Complex (DISC) and for TNFR1 it is complex II (reviewed in 22). Cell death activated by TNF- α binding to TNFR1 is more complex than activation through FasR or DR4/5. This is due to the fact that TNF- α 's day job is to induce inflammatory responses with the ultimate goal of inflammatory resolution and survival (22). Cell death only occurs through TNFR1 when the stimulus is too strong indicating that the cells need to be sacrificed for the greater good. A key inhibitor/modulator of caspase-8 activation, cellular FLICE Like Inhibitory Protein (cFLIP), is directly transcriptionally regulated by TNFR1 mediated NF-κB signaling (23). This protein competes with caspase-8 for binding to the DISC or complex II (23). This is a prime example of how complex and fine-tuned apoptotic signaling is. Most cell types (including epithelial cells) are classified as type II extrinsic apoptotic cells (**Figure 1.1C**) (24). Therefore, despite being a separate apoptotic pathway, activation of capsase-8 through extrinsic stimuli alone is not sufficient to cause apoptosis execution. MOMP is required for this, which is triggered by the caspase-8 mediated cleavage of the Bcl-2 family protein Bid into tBid (24). This will be discussed further below when I describe the Bcl-2 family in greater detail.

The execution pathway is of importance because it is the mechanistic endpoint for apoptosis. This pathway begins with the cleavage and activation of caspase-3 by initiator caspases (10). Active caspase-3 then cleaves many downstream target proteins resulting in the morphological, biochemical, etc. outcomes of apoptosis culminating in non-lytic cell death through the dead cell being efficiently phagocytosed by immune cells (10). Since the details of biochemical and cell physiological mechanisms that underpin the execution of apoptosis are not relevant to the regulation of apoptosis execution, these mechanisms will not be discussed in detail here and have been reviewed elsewhere (10,25).

Regulation of apoptosis sensitivity by the Bcl-2 family of proteins:

Since the activation of caspase-3 is essentially an irreversible "on" switch, the regulation of sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli is largely focused on managing whether or not MOMP occurs. Although MOMP is also somewhat irreversible, it has a tightly regulated threshold for execution. This regulation is accomplished primarily by the Bcl-2 family of proteins, which fall into three categories: pro-apoptotic (i.e. PUMA, NOXA, Bid, Bad, etc.), anti-apoptotic (i.e. Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, Mcl1, etc.), and effectors (i.e. Bax, Bak, etc.) (26,27). MOMP is achieved when the effectors Bax or Bak self oligomerize at the mitochondrial outer membrane and form the protein pore (Figure 1.2) (26,27). This is facilitated by direct binding of the pro-apoptotic Bcl2 family members to these effectors (Figure 1.2). On the other hand, MOMP can be inhibited by anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members that either directly bind to Bax and/or Bak and prevent them from forming the pore or directly binding to the pro-apoptotic family members preventing them from enabling pore formation and the execution of MOMP (Figure 1.2) (26,27). Therefore, modulation of the activity or expression of Bcl-2 family members effectively alters the cell's sensitivity to the apoptotic stimulus by either changing the magnitude of the pro-MOMP response to a stimulus (pro-apoptotic or effector members) or altering the threshold of signal necessary to initiate MOMP (anti-apoptotic members) (26,27). Since MOMP is a requirement for essentially all apoptosis in type II extrinsic apoptotic cells, the Bcl-2 family of proteins can arguably be seen as "master regulators of apoptosis" in these cells. Since enterocytes are type II extrinsic apoptotic cells, the regulation of apoptosis in these cells is primarily through regulation of MOMP and Bcl-2 family members.

Desmosomal junctions:

The intercellular junctions of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) are vital to their function and to the regulation of IEC homeostasis. Desmosomes have been visualized in ultrastructural studies as spot welds between IECs. These junctions are present below the tight junctions and adherens junctions within the lateral membrane (28). Desmosomes are comprised primarily of the transmembrane desmosomal cadherins (the desmogleins and desmocollins) as well as intracellular plaque proteins including members of the plakin, armadillo, and catenin protein families amongst others (Figure 1.3) (29,30). Desmosomal cadherins are essential for establishing and maintaining the adhesive properties of the desmosomes. Human IECs exclusively express the desmosomal cadherins desmoglein-2 (Dsg2) and desmocollin-2 (Dsc2) (ref. 29). The desmosomes are critical for the tensile strength of intercellular contacts and are present within nonepithelial cells that require very strong intercellular contacts such as cardiac myocytes (31). These tensile strength functions of the desmosomes are so critical that mice lacking the desmosomal catenin plakoglobin die within the first 12-16 days of embryogenesis due to defects in embryonic heart function (32). However, it has become very clear that the desmosomes and their protein components perform a wide variety of additional functions within the cell.

Overview of Cadherins as Signaling Mediators:

Cadherins serve as calcium dependent transmembrane adhesion proteins and are subdivided into classical-, proto-, desmosomal, and atypical cadherins (33). The classical

and desmosomal cadherins have an ectodomain composed of five extracellular cadherin repeats, a single transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic domain that interacts with either β -catenin (classical cadherins) or plakoglobin (Pg) (desmosomal and classical cadherins) (34). In addition to the classical adhesive function of cadherins, they contribute to a number of other cellular processes (Figure 1.4). Dynamic changes in cell adhesion are needed to establish and re-establish cell-cell contacts in multiple contexts, including developmental cell movements, tissue renewal, and wound repair (33,35). These processes require cells to integrate and process a variety of signals from the external- as well as the internal milieu. In many cases, the precise mechanism by which the cadherins participate in a signaling pathway is not fully understood, even though their involvement in the pathway is clearly demonstrated. One of the most well characterized signaling functions of cadherins is by acting as scaffolds to either promote or inhibit certain signaling pathways, which most often depend on the presence of the cadherin in the junction or its adhesion state. Through these and other mechanisms, cadherins participate in regulation of homeostatic events including proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis (Table 1.1).

<u>Cadherin mediated regulation of proliferation:</u>

Cadherins have been implicated in the regulation of cell proliferation through interaction with a wide range of signaling mediators. One example, and arguably the most classic paradigm of cadherin mediated signaling, is by modulating β -catenin signaling (33,36). The classical cadherins E-cadherin, N-cadherin, and VE-cadherin can prevent nuclear localization of β -catenin by direct interaction, thereby inhibiting TCF/LEF mediated stimulation of proliferation (37,38). In addition to sequestration through direct binding, E-cadherin can suppress β -catenin signaling through other mechanisms. For example, re-expression of E-cadherin in SW480 colon carcinoma cells leads to increased β -catenin phosphorylation and co-localization at the plasma membrane with APC, thus promoting β -catenin degradation (39). Furthermore, the authors show that neither phosphorylated β -catenin nor members of the destruction complex cofractionate with E-cadherin. This suggests that regulation of β -catenin stability by Ecadherin is independent of direct binding (39). However, another study found that reexpression of E-cadherin in this same cell line results in repression of fibronectin and LEF1 gene expression through prevention of β -catenin nuclear localization via direct binding (38). Such differences highlight the intricacies and complexities of cadherin mediated signaling. Binding of E-cadherin to β -catenin also affects other signaling pathways in addition to TCF/LEF mediated transcriptional regulation. E-cadherin engagement directly regulates Hippo signaling pathway in a β -catenin dependent manner through prevention of YAP nuclear localization, thereby inhibiting cell proliferation (40). Treating model epithelial cells with Wnt3a leads to increased β -catenin signaling, however, E-cadherin knock-down completely abolished this effect (41). These data show that through modulation of β -catenin activity alone, E-cadherin can participate in a variety of signal transduction pathways. In addition to E-cadherin, other cadherins regulate cell proliferation through a variety of mechanisms. VE-cadherin inhibits cell growth by binding to a variety of growth factor receptors such as TGF- β R (42) and VEGF-RII (43). N-cadherin knock-down results in reduced β -catenin activity and Akt phosphorylation, as opposed to increasing β -catenin activity as is seen after knock-down

of E-cadherin and VE-cadherin (44). Some unconventional or atypical cadherins can also modulate proliferative signaling. For example, cadherin-17 knock-down has been shown to result in decreased proliferation through reduced Erk phosphorylation (45).

The role of desmosomal cadherins in proliferative signaling is complex and depends on the cell-type and/or cadherin involved. In intestinal epithelial cells, Dsc-2 knock-down results in increased proliferation through EGFR/ β -catenin signaling (46), while Dsg-2 knock-down reduces EGFR phosphorylation and inhibits proliferation (47). In line with these results, expression of Dsg-2 in the suprabasal layer of the epidermis in mice leads to development of epidermal hyperplasia. In western blots comparing transgenic and wild-type mouse skin, changes in the phosphorylation of several signaling mediators known to stimulate proliferation were observed, including MAPK, Akt, PDK-1, and GSK-3 β as well as increased PTEN, c-Myc, and NF- κ B protein levels (48). Exposure of intestinal epithelial cells to either IL-1 β or TNF- α results in extracellular cleavage of Dsg-2 by the matrix metalloproteases MMP9 and ADAM10. The resulting Dsg-2 cleaved fragment reduces intercellular adhesion and promotes proliferation through activation of Her2/3 signaling (Figure 1.5A) (49). Similar to the effects of Dsg-2 extracellular cleavage, ADAM15 cleaves E-cadherin extracellularly and the resulting extracellular fragment stimulates Her2/3 heterodimerization and activation in breast cancer cell lines (50). Since these extracellular fragments affect both proliferation and adhesion, I have categorized this signaling mechanism being adhesion dependent, despite the requirement for cadherin cleavage. Re-expression of Dsc-3 in Dsc-3-deficient lung cancer cell lines results in reduced proliferation and decreased basal levels of phosphorylated Erk1/2 (51).

Cadherin mediated modulation of apoptosis:

In addition to regulating proliferation, cadherins act as important mediators of apoptotic signaling. E-cadherin homophilic engagement enhances STAT3 phosphorylation and disrupting this binding reduces pSTAT3 levels through activation of Rac1 leading to increased apoptosis (Figure 1.6A) (52). Expression of E-cadherin in lung, colorectal and pancreatic cancer lines enhances apoptosis and caspase-8 activation through direct interaction with the TRAIL receptors, DR4/5 (Ref. 53). Apoptosis sensitization was enhanced by E-cadherin adhesion and promoted formation of the DISC in response to TRAIL treatment (Figure 1.6B) (53). This is an example of cadherins acting as scaffolds for transmembrane signaling proteins in addition to functioning as scaffolds for cytoplasmic/intracellular signaling proteins. E-cadherin adhesion deficient mutant proteins were used to show that E-cadherin mediated adhesion participates in the stimulation of notch signaling, resulting in increased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Ref. 54). These data provide examples showing that the adhesion state of E-cadherin, in addition to ensuring cell-cell cohesion, acts as a signal that is used to modulate the activity of a variety of downstream signaling events and influence cell homeostasis. Using mouse models expressing different chimeric cadherins containing portions of N-cadherin and E-cadherin it was shown that the extracellular domain of Ecadherin interacts with the Igf-1 receptor, which promotes activity of this receptor and survival of trophectoderm cells during blastocyst formation (55).

As with proliferation, other classical cadherins in addition to E-cadherin participate in the regulation of apoptosis. In the absence of VE-cadherin, endothelial

cells express higher levels of N-cadherin and re-expression of VE-cadherin reverses this through repression of β -catenin signaling. Additionally, re-expression of VE-cadherin in these cells also decreases apoptosis, proliferation, and migration (56). However, coexpression of both VE- and N-cadherin has synergistic effect that further dampens the execution of apoptosis, proliferation, and β -catenin nuclear localization. Conversely, coexpression of N-cadherin with VE-cadherin modestly reverses the inhibition of migration seen with VE-cadherin expression alone (56). These data suggest that VE-cadherin and N-cadherin play similar but slightly divergent roles in the regulation of homeostasis and migration of endothelial cells. The role of desmosomal cadherin mediated adhesion or junctional residence in apoptotic signaling is less well understood, but a few such mechanisms have been described. For example, expression of Dsg-2 in suprabasal cells of the murine epidermis increases NF- κ B and Bcl-X_L protein levels. Keratinocytes derived from these mice display greater survival compared to cells derived from WT mice. These effects are enhanced by EGF treatment and are abolished by inhibition of NF-κB (48).

Cadherin mediated control of cellular differentiation:

In addition to being important regulators of proliferation and apoptosis, cadherins also regulate cell differentiation in various contexts. Loss of E-cadherin in embryonic stem cells decreases Klf4 and Nanog expression as well as pSTAT3 levels and interaction of STAT3 with the Nanog promoter (57). In another study using embryonic stem cells, treatment with E-cadherin adhesion blocking antibodies reduced expression of several transcriptional regulators as well as Tet1 and Esrrb (58). Overexpression of cadherin-11 in *Xenopus* embryos, inhibits cranial neural crest migration and is phenocopied by ADAM13 inhibition. The authors found that ADAM13 cleaves cadherin-11 generating an extracellular fragment and treatment with this cadherin-11 extracellular fragment alleviates the effects of cadherin-11 overexpression and ADAM13 inhibition on cranial neural crest migration through binding of cadherin-11 (Ref. 59). Much of the research describing roles of cadherins in the regulation of differentiation are centered on the intricately regulated expression patterns of desmosomal cadherins, which play an essential role in ensuring proper epidermal differentiation. Exogenously expressed Dsg-1 co-immunoprecipitates (Co-IPs) Erbin in normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEKs) (60). Induction of differentiation in NHEKs leads to increased expression of many differentiation specific genes including loicrin and involucrin. However, after induction of differentiation in Erbin knock-down cells, these changes are all diminished. In differentiated wild-type NHEKs pErk is predominantly confined to the basal layer, whereas using the Erbin knock-down cells, pErk was also found within the first couple of suprabasal layers. Whereas expression of WT Dsg-1 reduces pErk1/2 levels by two thirds, expression of Dsg-1 lacking the Erbin binding site decreases pErk1/2 levels by half. These data suggest that while the ability of Dsg-1 to bind Erbin plays an important role in its regulation of Erk1/2 phosphorylation, this signaling function is not exclusively mediated by Erbin binding (60). Dsg-1 expression enables the Ras-Raf scaffold protein Shoc2 to Co-IP Erbin and diminishes Erbin's ability to Co-IP K-Ras (60). These data suggest that desmogleins can modulate binding properties of other important signaling scaffolds, in addition to acting as a scaffold themselves. In differentiated epidermal raft cultures generated using Dsg-1 knock-down NHEKs there is abnormal differentiation of

the suprabasal layers. Furthermore, inducing differentiation in Dsg-1 knock-down keratinocytes increases pEGFR and pErk1/2 compared to control cells. Moreover, Erk1/2 inhibition was found to reverse the effects of Dsg-1 knock-down on suprabasal epidermal differentiation (61). In NHEKs cultured in organotypic raft cultures, knockdown of the GEF Bcr or blockade of MAL/SRF-induced transcriptional regulation leads to reduced expression of multiple epidermal differentiation associated proteins. Reexpression of Dsg-1 in these cells rescues the loss of these differentiation markers (62). Exposure of NHEKs to UVB prior to the induction of differentiation causes a dose dependent decrease in Dsg-1, Dsc-1, and multiple keratins as well as an increase in pErk. Overexpression of Dsg-1 helps prevent these effects, but at higher doses of UVB exposure Dsg-1 overexpression loses this protective effect. Additionally Dsg-1 knockdown intensifies the effects of UVB exposure prior to NHEK differentiation (63).

Other signaling mediated by cadherins:

The role of cadherins in signaling extends beyond the homeostatic mechanisms of life, death, and differentiation. In fact, recent research into cadherin mediated signaling has begun to focus more on the roles that cadherins play in non-homeostatic signaling pathways. Since research into these aspects of cadherin signaling is in its infancy, this section will primarily focus on some isolated examples from various systems ranging from regulation of Schwann cell mediated myelination (64) to insulin production by pancreatic β -cells (65). The rate and extent of myelination in the peripheral nervous system of E-cadherin knock-out mice is significantly reduced compared to wild-type animals (64). It was found that E-cadherin together with neuregulin 1 increase

phosphorylation of HER2, Akt, and Erk to facilitate myelination (Figure 1.6C) (64). Pernaud et al. observed that primary human pancreatic β -cells subjected to high glucose, display a noticeable increase in insulin production when plated on E-cadherin Fc coated glass compared to controls. This effect is blocked by treatment with the E-cadherin adhesion blocking antibody DECMA-1 (Ref. 65). These data strongly suggest that engagement of E-cadherin is important to ensure maximal insulin production in β -cells. In addition to modulating insulin production, Park et al have recently found that Ecadherin can regulate aspects of glucose metabolism. Re-expression of E-cadherin in gastric cancer epithelial cells enhances oxidative phosphorylation, glycosylation, expression of glucose transporters, and increases proliferation. These effects are all reduced following NF- κ B knock-down, suggesting that NF- κ B participates in this process (66). Using MCF10A human mammary epithelial cells, Bays et al. showed that application of extracellular force to endogenous E-cadherin stimulates AMPK activation as well as leads to increased phosphorylation of MLC, vinculin, and CrkL. Additionally, this application of force to E-cadherin increases glucose uptake and cellular ATP levels. These effects are inhibited by knock-down of E-cadherin, AMPK, and Lkb1 as well as Ecadherin adhesion blocking antibody treatment (67). Knock-down of E-cadherin in A549 NSCLC cells increases invasiveness as well as enhances expression of multiple MMPs, transcriptional regulators, and various other target proteins. These effects are reversed by MEK inhibition (68). These data suggest that loss of E-cadherin in cancer contributes to the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) through activation of MEK/Erk signaling. Recently, other classical cadherins have been shown to mediate non-homeostatic signaling as well. For example, N-cadherin can be cleaved

extracellularly by both ADAM10 and MMP9 and treatment of cultured primary microglial cells with the resulting protein fragment causes increased nuclear NF- κ B staining as well as increased release of TNF- α , MMP9, and MCP-1 (Ref. 69).

Tsang et al. performed a detailed examination of the effects of Dsg-3 on junctional and cytoskeletal components finding that knock-down of Dsg-3 in HaCaT cells results in decreased expression of many adherens junction, desmosome, and actin cytoskeleton associated proteins. In addition, the Dsg-3 knock-down cells displayed decreased β -catenin tyrosine phosphorylation as well as several other distinct effects including diminished re-establishment of junctional E-cadherin and β -catenin staining following calcium switch (70,71). On the other hand, the authors found that overexpression of Dsg-3 increases the number of actin protrusions and the rate of actin turnover as well as increasing activation of several Rho family small GTPases. Additionally, and when combined with Rac1 inhibition, Dsg-3 overexpression increases migration (70). In HaCaT cells, the authors observed interaction of Triton soluble Dsg-3 with E-cadherin in a calcium, p120, and plakoglobin dependent manner (71). Such observations suggest that Dsg-3 (and potentially other desmogleins) play a much larger role in overall junctional and cytoskeletal regulation and function than previously appreciated.

<u>Cadherin mediated signaling in the context of disease</u>:

Cadherin mediated signaling mechanisms have been shown to play an important role in multiple disease states and pathologies. One of the most well studied examples is in the context of cancer. A number of previous reports have addressed cadherin dependent regulation of cancer development and progression as well as their regulation of proliferation, apoptosis, invasiveness, metabolism, and metastasis in the context of this disease (38,39,53,66,68,72). Although E-cadherin is a classic example of cadherin mediated signaling in cancer, N-cadherin, VE-cadherin, desmosomal cadherins, and other cadherins have also been shown to participate in oncogenic signaling.

The role of cadherin signaling in the autoimmune skin diseases pemphigus vulgaris (PV) and pemphigus foliaceus (PF) will be primarily discussed because these conditions have been extensively studied. Pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus are known to be at least partially caused by autoantibodies that target Dsg-3 and Dsg-1 respectively (73,74). Several signaling mechanisms have been implicated in the pathobiology of pemphigus. Multiple studies have shown that the use of monoclonal antibodies targeting desmogleins can recapitulate pemphigus pathology (73,75). However, the contribution of desmogleins to these signaling events remains incompletely understood (76). Key examples of signaling caused by pemphigus autoantibodies will be highlighted because this field of study is vast and has been reviewed more comprehensively previously (77-79). Following 48 hours of treatment with PV autoantibodies, mouse keratinocytes display a strong reduction in nuclear localization of plakoglobin. After prolonged PV autoantibody treatment, keratinocytes display noticeably increased proliferation, c-Myc expression, and c-Myc nuclear localization, which was shown to be reversed after plakoglobin knock-out. Similar increased proliferation is also seen in human PV patient samples (80). NHEKs treated with PV autoantibodies display internalization and depletion of Dsg-3, which are prevented by p38MAPK inhibition (81). It was later shown that in response to patient derived PV

autoantibody treatment p38MAPK phosphorylation occurs prior to the activation of EGFR. The PV autoantibody treatment causes an increase in pErk1/2, which is enhanced by inhibition of either p38MAPK or EGFR phosphorylation. PV autoantibody or AK23 (a monoclonal antibody against mouse Dsg-3 that causes PV phenotypes) treatment causes endocytosis of EGFR, which is prevented by p38MAPK inhibition. Treatment of NHEKs with PV autoantibodies leads to internalization of Dsg-3 and an overall loss of the protein and these effects are reduced by pre-treatment with inhibitors of either p38MAPK or EGFR or knock-down of EGFR. The functional outcome of EGFR inhibition in mouse models of PV is decreased blister formation (75). These data suggest that EGFR activation in response to PV autoantibody treatment contributes to the blister formation seen in PV patients and that these effects are dependent on p38MAPK activation.

Dysregulation of apoptosis is also known to be important in PV pathobiology. A mouse model often used to study these diseases is referred to as a passive transfer mouse, in which IgG or serum derived from PV or PF patients is injected into the tail vain after which the mice develop symptoms and clinical manifestations of the parent disease. PV passive transfer mice show higher Bax and lower Bcl-2 protein levels, as well as increased caspase-3 and -9 activity. In addition, the PV transfer treated mice have enhanced phosphorylation of m-TOR and Src as well as increased blister formation and apoptosis, all of which are abolished or reduced by FAK inhibition (82). Increased apoptosis was observed in the epidermis of PF passive transfer mice which led to the development of experimental PF. These effects were reversed using pan-caspase or caspase-3 selective inhibitors (83). In PF passive transfer mice, Lee et al. observed an

increase in phospho-p38MAPK in two peaks following treatment. The authors also described apoptosis activation beginning 30 hours post treatment and increasing in severity over time, which is prevented by p38MAPK inhibition. They found that only inhibition of the first p38MAPK peak but not the second prevented blister formation in these mice (84). These data suggest that this first burst of p38MAPK activation is the most critical in blister formation in PF. In the basal cells of PV passive transfer mice, Pretel et al. describe increased phosphorylated HER family growth factor receptors and downstream signaling molecules including Src and m-TOR, which were all inhibited by EGFR inhibitor treatment. The authors also found increased in betacellulin, TGF-a, and EGF in these cells. Pre-treatment with an EGFR inhibitor, a Src kinase family inhibitor, rapamycin, or pan-caspase inhibitors all prevent the apoptosis and other clinical manifestations normally seen in PV passive transfer mice (85). These data suggest that the increased apoptosis seen in response to pemphigus autoantibody treatment is necessary for the development of clinical symptoms. Using passive transfer of AK23 (monoclonal mouse anti-Dsg-3 antibody), Schulze et al. observed increased activation or expression of several signaling mediators that promote proliferation as well as decreased the expression of multiple desmogleins, total EGFR, total p38MAPK, and phosphorylated p38MAPK (73). Treatment of ex vivo human skin tissue with PV or PF autoantibodies results in blister formation, but pre-treatment with RhoA or Rho family activators inhibits this process. In HaCat cells, inhibition of p38MAPK or activation of Rho family members prevents the disruption of several desmosomal or desmosome associated proteins and E-cadherin seen in response to PV autoantibody treatment. Treatment of HaCaT cells with PV or PF autoantibodies also results in reduced active

RhoA, which is prevented by p38MAPK inhibition (86). These data suggest that inhibition of RhoA is an important step downstream of p38MAPK activation in pemphigus pathobiology. Using a panel of PV monoclonal antibodies, only those that cause a loss of intercellular adhesion activate p38MAPK. The authors also found that inhibition of p38MAPK prevents Dsg-3 internalization and depletion in response to the PV mAbs (74).

Cadherin mediated signaling has been shown to participate in other disease states besides cancer and pemphigus, but these are far fewer. For example, Dsg-1 mRNA and protein expression is reduced in eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE), that has been associated with reduced barrier integrity and esophageal epithelial cell adhesion (87). These effects are recapitulated by Dsg-1 knock-down of cultured esophageal epithelial cells. Dsg-1 knock-down promotes pro-inflammatory transcriptional responses by RNAseq. Both Dsg-1 knock-down cultured esophageal epithelial cells and human EoE patient samples display noticeably increased expression of the integrin ligand protein periostin compared to controls (87). Samples from human patients with striate palmoplantar keratoderma (SPPK) arising from mutations in Dsg-1 display increased Erk activity and reduced differentiation marker expression. These samples also display increased interaction of Shoc2 with K-ras and reduced interaction of this protein with Erbin (60).

<u>Cadherin intracellular fragment mediated signaling:</u>

The findings I have described thus far highlight the diversity and importance of cadherin mediated signaling. However, all of these mechanisms are either dependent on or in some way influenced by changes in cadherin adhesion. In the next section I will highlight an emerging class of cadherin mediated signaling mechanisms that do not appear to be influenced by changes in cadherin adhesion. Most of these mechanisms are based on intracellular cadherin cleavage and the generation of a functional protein fragment. For example, E-cadherin can be intracellularly cleaved by gamma secretase resulting in generation of the E-cadherin C-Terminal Fragment 2 (CTF2) (Ref. 88). Expression of CTF2 results in its nuclear localization and increased proliferation, which are both enhanced by co-expression with p120. E-cadherin CTF2 promotes Kaiso mediated transcriptional regulation and is able to Co-IP both with Kaiso and p120 (**Figure 1.4B**) (89). In line with the E-Cadherin CTF2, expression of N-cadherin cterminal fragment 2 (CTF2) leads to N-Cadherin CTF2 nuclear localization and increased expression of β -catenin and cyclin D1 as well as increased emigration of neural crest cells from the developing neural tube in quail embryos (90). In response to UV induced apoptosis in keratinocytes, desmoglein-1 is cleaved intracellularly by caspases-3 and -7 and knock-down of desmoglein-1 protects the cells from UV induced apoptosis (91).

Cadherin signaling in cells lacking intercellular adhesion:

There are also a few examples of cadherin mediated signaling that remain intact in cells lacking intercellular adhesion. In immortalized untransformed human mammary epithelial cells E-cadherin knock-down results in increased N-cadherin and vimentin expression as well as reduced expression of cytokeratin 18, indicative of an epithelial to mesenchymal transition. However, this was not seen after expression of adhesion blocking dominant negative E-cadherin, indicating that the signaling mechanisms preventing cells from undergoing EMT in this system do not require cells to be participating in intercellular adhesion (72). In addition, E-cadherin knock-down results in increased motility, invasiveness, and reduced sensitivity to apoptosis, all of which are rescued by expression of the adhesion blocking E-cadherin dominant negative protein (72). These data support a role of E-cadherin in preventing metastatic phenotypes through signaling mechanisms that remain intact in the absence of intercellular adhesion. Similarly, in *Xenopus* embryos it was found that knock-down of cadherin-11 inhibits cranial neural crest migration and this is rescued by expression of cadherin-11 lacking the extracellular domain. However, expression of cadherin-11 lacking the β -catenin binding domain or the transmembrane domain does not rescue the effects of cadherin-11 knockdown. These effects are also reversed by supplementation with recombinant Rho family small GTPases or the Rho GEF Trio (92).

The importance of epithelial apoptosis in Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) pathogenesis:

Chronic inflammatory disorders of the intestine, such as Ulcerative Colitis (UC) and Crohn's Disease (CD) (collectively referred to as Inflammatory Bowel Disease [IBD]), are characterized by recurring bouts of inflammation and compromise of the intestinal epithelial barrier. The barrier is comprised of IECs and their intercellular junctions. These junctions include tight junctions, adherens junctions, and desmosomes (28). This barrier serves many crucial functions including preventing enteric pathogens and antigens from accessing the underlying mucosal tissue (**Figure 1.7**). Loss of the epithelial barrier plays a critical role in the pathology of IBD by exacerbating the inflammatory and other symptoms (93,94,95). These diseases have complex and

multifactorial etiologies and the mechanistic basis of their pathobiology is incompletely understood (96).

There is evidence to support aberrant and/or excessive apoptosis as a factor that can contribute to the development of UC and CD as well as to their pathologies (97-107). There are multiple apoptotic regulators or pathways the loss of which have been have been shown to result in the development of spontaneous colitis in mice or exacerbate the colitis (98,102-104,107). For example, IEC specific knock-out of NF-κB Essential Modulator (NEMO) or X-box Binding Protein 1 (XBP1) in mice leads to noticeably increased epithelial apoptosis in the intestine, especially in Paneth cells, as well as the development of spontaneous colitis (102,103). Increased steady state mRNA and protein levels of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member p53 Upregulated Modulator of Apoptosis (PUMA) have been found in UC patient derived samples as well as in mice following Dextran Sodium Sulfate (DSS) treatment for 24 h (98). The authors found that the severity of DSS or TNBS (2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid) induced colitis was noticeably reduced in PUMA knock-out mice compared to wild type controls which was correlated with reduced apoptosis in the colonic epithelium (98). Junctional Adhesion Molecule-A (JAM-A) knock-out mice also displayed a noticeable increase in severity of DSS induced colitis compared to wild type controls or endothelial cell specific JAM-A knock-out mice. The JAM-A^{-/-} mice also displayed noticeably increased rates of enterocyte apoptosis following DSS treatment compared to controls (104). These studies in mouse models suggest that dysregulation of apoptosis contributes to colitis development and severity.

The relationship between increased IEC apoptosis and IBD has not only been observed in laboratory models. Data from patient derived clinical samples show that increased enterocyte apoptosis is associated with UC and CD especially in more severe cases as well as in regions of the intestine involved in active inflammation (98-101,106). Therefore, gaining a better understanding of mechanisms by which the various apoptotic pathways are engaged in IBD pathobiology is of great importance. Identifying links between apoptosis and IBD is also attractive because of our knowledge of mechanisms by which apoptosis is regulated. Additionally, the development or use of therapeutic strategies that modulate apoptosis sensitivity in the treatment of other disease states (especially cancer) is already a major focus of clinical and translational research (27,108).

Scope and significance of dissertation:

It is becoming clear that cadherin mediated signaling plays a vital role in the regulation of many important cellular outcomes including homeostatic functions such as apoptosis. An emerging class of cadherin mediated signaling mechanism are those involving intracellular cadherin protein fragments generated through specific and regulated cleavage. Despite clear evidence for their existence and importance, very little is known about these types of mechanisms. The role of cadherin mediated signaling in the development or progression of IBD is incompletely understood. To investigate the role of cadherin mediated signaling in intestinal inflammation, I characterized the cleavage of the desmosomal cadherin Dsg2 in the context of inflammatory stimulation and determined the functional effects of the resulting intracellular protein fragment (Dsg2 ICF).
In chapter 2, we used *in vitro* model IEC culture and TNF- α and IFN- γ as inflammatory stimuli to characterize the cleavage of Dsg2 and generation of the Dsg2 ICF. We describe an important cadherin cleavage mechanism in which intracellular cleavage occurs before extracellular cleavage, which is in direct contrast to many cadherin cleavage mechanisms described thus far (88,109-112). Caspase-8 was identified as the protease responsible for Dsg2 ICF generation through the use of selective caspase inhibitors and Dsg2 mutants lacking putative caspase-8 cleavage sites. The fact that the Dsg2 ICF is generated by an initiator caspase and that its generation is stimulated by extrinsic apoptotic stimuli (TRAIL) led us to hypothesize that the Dsg2 ICF may play a role in the regulation of apoptosis. Exogenous expression of the Dsg2 ICF revealed distinct functional effects of this fragment on apoptosis sensitivity through repression of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-X_L and Mcl1. We measured the increase in MOMP in cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF through assessment of cytoplasmic cytochromec, thereby confirming that the presence of the Dsg2 ICF results in increased execution of apoptosis. The ultimate goal of my dissertation work was to characterize the role of Dsg2 mediated signaling in the severity of enterocyte apoptosis in the context of intestinal inflammation. This work contributed to the understanding of the scope of cadherin mediated signaling as well as provided a new mechanism by which inflammatory stimuli can increase the severity of clinically relevant cellular outcomes in the intestinal epithelium.



Figure 1.1: Basic model of apoptosis initiator pathways. A) The intrinsic initiator pathway is activated through numerous mechanisms that all converge on the sensitization to or direct stimulation of MOMP. MOMP leads to the formation of a multiprotein complex known as the apoptosome. The apoptosome consists of multiples of the following protein in repeating multimer units: Apaf-1, Cytochrome-c, and pro-caspase-9. The exact nature of the formation of and structure of the apoptosome has been reviewed more comprehensively elsewhere (113,114). The formation of the apoptosome leads to the proximity induced autoactivation of caspase-9 which then cleaves multiple downstream targets including caspase-3 resulting in the full execution of apoptosis. B) A classic example of the extrinsic apoptotic initiator pathway is the response to excessive TNF- α signaling through TNFR1. In the presence of sufficient TNF- α signal, another multiprotein complex referred to as Complex II consisting of pro-caspase-8, FADD, and TRADD (Complex IIA) or pro-caspase-8, FADD, and cleaved RIP1 (Complex IIB) is formed. The molecular mechanisms of extrinsic apoptosis have been reviewed more thoroughly elsewhere (22). Complex II facilitates the proximity mediated auto-cleavage of pro-caspase-8 leading to its full activation. Caspase-8 then cleaves multiple substrates including pro-caspase-3 leading to apoptosis execution. C) In type II extrinsic apoptotic cell such as enterocytes, the activation of the intrinsic apoptosis initiator pathway is required for efficient apoptosis activation. This is accomplished through cleavage of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bid generating tBid, which is a potent inducer of mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) leading to activation of the intrinsic initiator pathway.



Figure 1.2: Model of Bcl-2 family regulation of MOMP. The effector Bcl-2 family members (e.g. BAX) directly execute MOMP through homo-oligomerization on the mitochondrial outer membrane forming the protein pore that causes MOMP. This is facilitated by direct binding to these effector family members by pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (e.g. tBid). MOMP is inhibited through the action of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members (e.g. Bcl-XL). This is accomplished through two primary methods: **A**) Direct competitive binding to pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members thereby preventing them from facilitating pore formation and/or **B**) direct competitive binding to the effector Bcl-2 family proteins and preventing pore formation in that way. The precise molecular and biochemical nature of Bcl-2 family mediated regulation of MOMP and apoptosis has been more comprehensively reviewed elsewhere (27).



Figure 1.3: Epithelial desmosomes. Desmosomes are multiprotein structures comprised primarily of three groups of proteins: the desmosomal cadherins (the desmogleins and the desmocollins), catenin proteins (which in desmosomes is predominantly the armadillo family member plakoglobin [Pg]), and other intracellular plaque proteins including plakins such as Desmoplakin (DP). The desmosomal cadherins are transmembrane proteins that establish the intercellular contacts of the desmosomes through extracellular binding. The intracellular catenin proteins bind to the C-terminal tails of the cadherins and help mediate interaction between these tails and other intracellular plaque proteins. The remaining intracellular plaque proteins perform a wide variety of roles including mediating the interaction between the desmosomes and the intermediate filaments cytoskeleton. The structure of the desmosomes and the many functions of its components have been reviewed more comprehensively elsewhere (29,115).



Figure 1.4: Modalities of cadherin mediated signaling. Cadherins have been shown to participate in many diverse signaling pathways and mechanisms. Not only is the range of functional outcomes that cadherins regulate wide, the number of different types of mechanisms that cadherins participate in to mediate their signaling is also impressive. **A**) Many times, cadherins themselves act as scaffolds for important signaling events and the ability of the cadherin to participate in these signaling mechanisms is often dependent upon their participation in cadherin mediated adhesion. **B**) Other mechanisms requiring cadherin mediated adhesion include cadherin protein association with other transmembrane signaling that requires the formation of stable cadherin protein fragments via regulated proteolytic cleavage. Most of these mechanisms require cadherin extracellular fragment generation and often times both stimulate receptor signaling pathways and interfere with cadherin mediated adhesion (**C**). There are, however, multiple studies describing cadherin intracellular protein fragment generation (**D**). These

mechanisms often entail binding of the intracellular fragment to a cytoplasmic signaling partner, nuclear re-localization, and regulation of gene transcription.



Figure 1.5: Examples of cleavage dependent cadherin mediated signaling. A

growing number of reports have shown that cadherin protein fragments generated through regulated cleavage play important signaling roles. A) Many of these mechanisms are dependent upon cadherin extracellular fragment generation. These usually influence signaling of transmembrane receptors and/or cadherin mediated adhesion in a paracrine and/or autocrine manner. The extracellular fragment of Dsg2 has been shown to participate in both of these activities interfering with Dsg2 extracellular adhesive binding and increasing proliferation through stimulation of the Her2 and Her3 receptors (116). B) Cadherin intracellular fragments also mediate important signaling events. An example of this is the enhancement of E-cadherin C-Terminal Fragment 2 (CTF2) nuclear localization through binding to p120 and increased Kaiso mediated nuclear transcription (89).



Figure 1.6: Examples of cadherin mediated signaling dependent on junctional residence and adhesive state. Cadherin cytoplasmic tails can act as scaffolds for intracellular signaling molecules thereby promoting distinct signaling pathways under various conditions. These scaffolding functions are often dependent upon the following: A+B) The adhesive state of the cadherin or C) the presence of the cadherin within a stable junction. Examples of these types of mechanisms include activation of Rac1 and Stat3 signaling through E-cadherin adhesive binding leading to repression of apoptosis (52) or reduced peripheral nervous system myelination in the absence of E-cadherin (64). There have even been a few reports of cadherin adhesive binding leading to the cadherin acting as a scaffold for and enhancing the activity of transmembrane signaling receptors such as the receptors for TNF- α Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL), Death Receptors 4 and 5 (DR4 and 5) leading to enhanced Death Inducing Signaling Complex (DISC) formation and apoptosis sensitivity (53).



Figure 1.7: Intestinal epithelial barrier and barrier compromise in mucosal inflammation.

The intestinal epithelial barrier consists of the following:

- **1.** Mucus that interfaces the apical surface of epithelial cells and the intestinal lumen (light green).
- **2.** A monolayer of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) that lines the intestine (light orange) and a series of intercellular junctions (dark grey and red boxes) through which epithelial barrier function is achieved.

A) The epithelial barrier protects mucosal tissue from luminal pathogens and antigens. B) Compromise of this critical barrier during mucosal inflammation results in antigen access to tissues resulting in inflammatory and other immune responses. C) Immune mediators can further decrease epithelial barrier function thereby contributing to disease pathogenesis and chronic inflammation D).

Functional	Cadherin	Associated	Effectors	Reference
Output	(/fragment)	Proteins		
Proliferation	E-Cadherin	β-catenin	TCF/LEF; Fibronectin	38
		•	TCF/LEF; β-catenin	39
		β-catenin	Hippo; YAP	117
		β-catenin*	$TCF/LEF^{\dagger};$	41
			Wnt3a [‡] Wnt3A	
	(NTF [#])	HER2/3	ErBb	50
	(CTF2 [#])	P120; Kaiso	Kaiso [†]	89
		EGFR	EGF [‡] ; Stat5; ERK	118
	<u>N-Cadherin</u>	β-catenin	Akt	44
		β-catenin*	TCF/LEF [†] ; Wnt3a [‡] ; TBX6	44
	(CTF2 [#])		Cyclin D1; β-catenin	90
	VE-Cadherin	TGF-βR;	PAI-1, Id1; TGF- β^{\ddagger} ;	42
		ALK5; ALK1	Smad1/5, 2, 3	
		VEGF-RII; β-	p44/42 MAPK VEGF [‡] ;	43
		catenin	EGF [‡]	
[Multiple	VE-Cadherin	β-catenin	PI3K; FoxO1; Akt;	56
processes	/ N-Cadherin		SOD [‡] ; β -catenin;	
affected]			Caspase-3; FGF-2;	
			MMP3; PDGFRA; ANGPT2; FRS-2α	
			ANOP12, FKS-20	
	Cadherin-17		Ras; Raf; MEK; Erk;	45
	<u>Cauller III-17</u>		Integrin $\beta 1$, $\beta 4$, $\beta 5$; p21;	45
			p53;	
			P33,	
	Dsg-2		EGFR; Dsc-2; Histone	47
	<u> </u>		H3; Src; Erk1/2	
[Multiple			MAPK; Akt; PDK-1;	48
processes			GSK-3β; PTEN;	
affected]			c-Myc; NFκB; MEK1/2;	
			p90RSK; Raf; Stat3; Bcl-	
			XL	
	(ECF [#])	HER2/3	S6; mTOR; MAPK; Akt;	49
			Erk1/2	
	Dsc-2		EGFR; CD44; Akt; β-	46
			catenin [†]	

 Table 1.1: Overview of cadherin mediated signaling.

	Dsc-3		Erk1/2	51
	230 5			01
<u>Apoptosis</u>	E-Cadherin	DR4/5	DISC [complex	53
			formation]	52
			Stat3; Rac1; Cdc42	52
		T C 1	Notch; Bcl-2	54
		Igf-1r	Igf-1 [‡]	55
[Multiple			Twist; β -catenin;	72
processes			Cytokeratin-8;	
affected]			N-cadherin; vimentin;	
			fibronectin	
[Multiple	VE-Cadherin	β-catenin	PI3K; FoxO1; Akt;	56
processes	/ N-Cadherin		SOD [‡] ; β -catenin;	
affected]			Caspase-3; FGF-2;	
00 -			MMP3; PDGFRA;	
			ANGPT2; FRS-2α	
			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	Dsg-1		Caspase-3	91
	2081			71
[Multiple			MAPK; Akt; PDK-1;	48
processes			$GSK-3\beta$; PTEN;	40
affected]			с-Myc; NFкB; MEK1/2;	
ujjecieuj			p90RSK; Raf; Stat3; Bcl-	
			X_L	
			AL	
Differentiation	E-Cadherin		Vif4: Nopog: Stat2:	57
Differentiation	<u>E-Caunerin</u>		Klf4; Nanog; Stat3;	57
			Erk1/2; Akt;	
			N-cadherin	59
			Stat3; Tet1; Esrrb; Tbx3;	58
			Nanog; Klf4; Nr0B1;	
			Nr5a2; Erk1/2	
	P. (
	<u>Dsg-1</u>	Erbin; Shoc2	Erk1/2; K-Ras; loricrin;	60
			keratin-10	
			EGFR; Erk1/2; Lamin	61
			A/C; keratin-10;	
			desmocollin-1; fillagrin;	
			loricrin; c-Raf; Mek1/2;	
			EphA2; ErbB2	
		Bcr◊	desmocollin-1; MAL;	62
			SRF; keratin-10; keratin-	
			1; loricrin	
	Dsg-1/Dsc-1		keratin1; keratin 10; p63;	63
			,, r., r., r., , r.,	-

Cadherin-11 [extracellular fragment* [fragment*] ADAM13; ADAM9 ? 59 Non- homeostatic signaling/ disease E-Cadherin MER2; ErbB2 Akt; Erk; P0 64 Multiple processes affected] E-Cadherin B-cadherin Neurgulin1 ⁶ ; HER2; ErbB2 Akt; Erk; P0 64 Multiple processes affected] β-catenin NFkB; Wnt; c-Myc; IkBg; GLUT1; GLUT3; GLUT4 66 MLC; Vinculin; CrkL; AMPK* 67 67 AMPK* MAPK* 68 affected] Lkb1; AMPK* MLC; Vinculin; CrkL; Slug; ZEB1; NH2; BS; GSK33 68 [Multiple processes affected] Twist; β-catenin; Cytokeratin-8; N-cadherin; vimentin; fragment* (fragment is unnamed)] NFkB; Iba-1; TNF-α; MMP7 69 Dsg-1 periostin 119 Dsg-1 periostin 120 Dsg-3 E-Cadherin; Actin; Rac1; B-cadherin; B-cadheri				desmocollin-1	
Image: Image of the second static signaling / disease ADAM9 Non: Image: Image of the second static signaling / disease E-Cadherin HER2; ErbB2 Image: Im					
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline HER2; ErbB2 & HER2; ErbB2 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$		[extracellular fragment [#] {fragment is	,	?	59
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$					
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	<u>homeostatic</u> <u>signaling /</u>	<u>E-Cadherin</u>	U ,	Akt; Erk; P0	64
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			· · · · · ·		65
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	processes		β-catenin	IκBα; GLUT1; GLUT3;	66
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$					67
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$				cadherin; CDH1; Twist; Slug; ZEB1; MMP2;	68
$\begin{bmatrix} extracellular fragment^{\#} \\ [fragment is unnamed]] \\ \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c } \hline & MMP7 \\ \hline & fragment is unnamed] \\ \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c } \hline & fragment is unnamed] \\ \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c } \hline & I \\ \hline & I \\ \hline \end{tabular} \\ \hline tab$	processes			Cytokeratin-8; N-cadherin; vimentin;	72
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		[extracellular fragment [#] {fragment is	,		69
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		D 1		•	110
Actin; Rac1; RhoA; Cad42MLCβ-catenin; E-cadherin; P-cadherin; desmocollin-2; plakoglobin; PKP2; desmoplakin; PKP1; Src; plakoglobin*;121		Dsg-1		periostin	119
E-cadherin; desmocollin-2; P-cadherin; plakoglobin; PKP2; desmoglein-2; desmoplakin; PKP1; Src; plakoglobin*;		<u>Dsg-3</u>	Actin; Rac1;		
			E-cadherin; P-cadherin; desmoglein-2; plakoglobin [*] ;	desmocollin-2; plakoglobin; PKP2;	121

Cadherin-11	β-catenin	GEF-Trio; Rho; Rac;	92
		Cdc42	

*Interaction is inferred but not directly demonstrated

[†]Inferred through effects on promoter based reporter activity assay

[‡]The cadherin influences the outcome of this mediator's signaling, but is not activating or repressing this mediator directly

[#]Cadherin cleavage fragment shown to mediate this signaling

 $^{\diamond}Although no interaction is shown or inferred, the cadherin directly modulates the signaling of this protein$

[•]Inhibition of this protein enhances effects of cadherin mediated signaling, although no direct binding was detected or inferred

<u>Chapter 2: Desmosomal Cadherin</u> <u>Cleavage and Modulation of Enterocyte</u> <u>Apoptosis in the Context of</u>

Inflammation

A portion of this chapter is adapted from the following published work:

Yulis, M., Quiros, M., Hilgarth, R., Parkos, C.A., Nusrat, A. (2018) Cell Death Dis.

"Intracellular Desmoglein-2 cleavage sensitizes epithelial cells to apoptosis in response to

pro-inflammatory cytokines"

This article was originally published in <u>Cell Death and Disease</u> and is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License</u>.

INTRODUCTION:

Intestinal epithelial cells are a critical component of the intestinal mucosal barrier. This barrier serves as an interface between distinct luminal and mucosal environments and is essential to maintaining tissue homeostasis (122). The intestinal epithelium is highly dynamic and is actively turned over in less than a week. Yet, throughout this process, the epithelial barrier properties are maintained. Intestinal epithelial barrier compromise has been reported to contribute to the pathogenesis of mucosal inflammatory disorders such as inflammatory bowel disease (123). Epithelial barrier function is achieved by a series of intercellular junctions that include the tight junctions, adherens junctions, and desmosomes (28,124). Intercellular junctional proteins not only serve to control epithelial adhesion and barrier function but also play an active role in regulating epithelial homeostasis encompassing cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation (49,80,125,126).

Ultrastructural studies have visualized desmosomes as spot welds between intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). These junctions are located within the lateral membrane below the tight junctions and adherens junctions (28). The basic structural components of desmosomes are the transmembrane cadherin proteins (the desmogleins and desmocollins) and intracellular plaque proteins including members of the plakin, armadillo, and catenin families amongst others that serve a diverse range of critical functions (29,30). Desmosomal cadherins are essential for establishing and maintaining the adhesive properties of the desmosomes. IECs exclusively express the desmosomal cadherins desmoglein-2 (Dsg2) and desmocollin-2 (Dsc2) (ref. 29). Previous studies have identified pro-inflammatory mediators that initiate proteolytic cadherin cleavage during mucosal inflammation (49,126). Cadherin cleavage products have been shown to have biological properties that influence epithelial homeostatic functions and intercellular adhesion (49,91,111,126-130).

We have previously shown that an intracellular fragment (ICF) of Dsg2 was generated in response to camptothecin, an intrinsic apoptotic stimulus. Dsg2 ICF generation was associated with increased IEC apoptosis (129). Apoptosis can occur through two main pathways, intrinsic and extrinsic (131). The intrinsic pathway is activated in response to apoptotic stimuli originating within the cell (i.e. excessive DNA damage) and is characterized by release of pro-apoptotic proteins from within the mitochondria through mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP). The extrinsic pathway is activated in response to stimuli originating from outside the cell (i.e. TNF- α). However, IECs are type 2 extrinsic apoptotic cells, which require MOMP for full execution of apoptosis even in response to extrinsic stimuli (132). Therefore, regulation of mitochondrial engagement in these cells is important for the execution of apoptosis.

The Bcl-2 protein family are key regulators of mitochondrial engagement in apoptosis (26,132). This family consists of three major groups, anti-apoptotic members (e.g. Bcl-X_L, Bcl-2, Mcl1, etc.), pro-apoptotic members (e.g. BID, BAD, NOXA, PUMA, etc.), and effectors (BAX, BAK, and BOK) (26,132). The anti-apoptotic members prevent MOMP either through direct interaction with the effectors or by directly interacting with pro-apoptotic family members (26,132). Modulation of Bcl-2 protein function is primarily achieved through two types of mechanisms, 1) changing Bcl-2 protein stability/expression and/or 2) interfering with their binding (26). In this study, we report that the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IFN- γ induce generation of the Dsg2 ICF. We also demonstrate that this occurs prior to Dsg2 extracellular cleavage and the execution of apoptosis. Our data show that Dsg2 intracellular cleavage is mediated by caspase-8 and also occurs in response to another extrinsic apoptotic mediator, TNF- α Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL). Using adenoviral expression vectors encoding myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF, we show that the Dsg2 ICF promotes apoptosis sensitization that is associated with downregulation of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins Bcl-X_L and Mcl1. These data indicate that proinflammatory cytokines promote Dsg2 intracellular cleavage which contributes to the signaling pathways leading to epithelial apoptosis.

RESULTS:

TNF-\alpha and IFN-\gamma promote Dsg2 Intracellular Cleavage:

Pro-inflammatory cytokines released into the epithelial milieu during inflammation influence cellular homeostasis and barrier function (122). We have previously reported that select pro-inflammatory cytokines induce Dsg2 ectodomain cleavage and shedding from intestinal epithelial cells (49). Given these observations, we next determined if TNF- α and IFN- γ promote intracellular cleavage of Dsg2, influencing epithelial cell fate. TNF- α and IFN- γ dose response studies were performed in the barrier forming model intestinal epithelial cell line T-84 (**Figure 2.1**). Using an epitope mapped monoclonal antibody (4B2) that binds to a Dsg2 intracellular epitope (**Figure 2.2A**) we observed that TNF- α and IFN- γ exposure for 24hrs promoted Dsg2 intracellular cleavage with generation of a ~55kDa Dsg2 intracellular fragment (Dsg2 ICF) (133) (**Figure 2.2B**). Immunofluorescence labeling and confocal microscopy using the Dsg2 C-terminal specific antibody 4B2 revealed that TNF- α and IFN- γ exposure for 24hrs led to redistribution of Dsg2 cytoplasmic tail from the plasma membrane (**Figure 2.3**). As we have previously reported, TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment also promoted Dsg2 ectodomain shedding into the cell culture supernatant (**Figure 2.2C**) as detected by immunoblotting using the Dsg2 ectodomain specific epitope mapped monoclonal antibody, AH12.2 (ref. 49).

We next asked if there is a direct mechanistic link between Dsg2 ectodomain shedding and generation of the Dsg2 ICF. T-84 model IECs were treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence or absence of a specific ADAM 10 inhibitor (GI454023X) which was previously demonstrated to prevent Dsg2 extracellular cleavage (49). While ADAM 10 inhibition influenced Dsg2 ectodomain shedding, this treatment did not impact Dsg2 ICF generation in response to TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment (**Figure 2.2D and E**). To characterize the kinetics of Dsg2 cleavage, time course experiments of TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment were performed. Dsg2 ICF was generated within 6 hours of TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment, which is prior to Dsg2 ECF cleavage and release into the cell culture supernatant (**Figure 2.2F and G**). Since Dsg2 ICF generation was previously associated with increased apoptosis (129), we assayed the kinetics of PARP cleavage, which was observed 12 hours after cytokine exposure (**Figures 2.2F**). These data demonstrate that TNF- α and IFN- γ induce Dsg2 ICF cleavage, which occurs prior to Dsg2 ectodomain shedding and apoptosis execution. Calpain Inhibition Leads to Accumulation of Active Caspase-8 and Promotes Dsg2 ICF Generation:

Pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling has been shown to activate proteases that influence cellular outcomes (49,126,134). To examine the molecular mechanisms by which TNF-α and IFN-γ promote intracellular cleavage of Dsg2, we next explored the contribution of candidate intracellular proteases that mediate this cleavage event. Since γ-secretase is responsible for generating the intracellular C-terminal fragment-2 (CTF2) fragments of both E- and N-cadherin, we assessed the role of this protease in mediating Dsg2 cleavage (88,109). However, inhibition of γ-secretase with DAPT (N-[N-(3,5-Difluorophenacetyl)-L-alanyl]-S-phenylglycine t-butyl ester) did not affect Dsg2 intracellular cleavage in response to TNF-α and IFN-γ (**Figure 2.4A**).

The calpain family of intracellular cysteine proteases have been previously implicated in cadherin cleavage (135). To test the potential role of calpains in the generation of the Dsg2 ICF, we treated IECs with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence and absence of the calpain inhibitor, calpeptin. In the presence of these cytokines, calpeptin treatment resulted in increased generation of the Dsg2 ICF as well as Dsg2 ectodomain shedding (**Figure 2.4B and C**). Another family of intracellular proteases shown to have a role in cadherin cleavage are the caspases (88,91). Calpains have been shown to inhibit the activity of caspases-8 and -9 through cleavage of the active form of these caspases (136). Caspase activity was modulated by inhibition of calpains following TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment as evidenced by an increased abundance of active caspase-8 (**Figure 2.4D**). These data suggest that calpain inhibition enhances the generation of both the Dsg2 ICF and ECF and this effect may be mediated by alleviation of calpain induced cleavage of caspases.

Caspase-8 is Responsible for Generating the Dsg2 ICF:

To further determine the role of caspases in mediating Dsg2 cleavage, T-84 model IECs were incubated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence and absence of the pancaspase inhibitor, Z-VAD-fmk. Pan-caspase inhibition resulted in complete loss of the Dsg2 ICF (Figure 2.5A). This treatment also inhibited shedding of the Dsg2 ectodomain into the cell culture supernatant (Figure 2.5B). To identify the specific caspase(s) responsible for Dsg2 ICF generation, IECs were incubated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence of increasing concentrations of selective caspase inhibitors targeting caspases-3/-7 (Z-DEVD-fmk), caspase-8 (Z-IETD-fmk), and caspase-9 (Z-LEHD-fmk), or vehicle. The caspase-8 selective inhibitor, Z-IETD-fmk, had the maximal effect in reducing Dsg2 ICF generation (Figure 2.5C). To confirm that caspase-8 is the primary protease responsible for generation of Dsg2 ICF, myc-tag Dsg2 constructs with mutation of two putative intracellular caspase-8 cleavage consensus sites were generated (D715A and D675A). Myc tagged Dsg2 wild type (Dsg2 WT) and mutant proteins were expressed in Cos7 cells. Cos7 cells were chosen because they are readily transfected to express exogenous proteins and robustly cleave endogenous and exogenous Dsg2 to generate the Dsg2 ICF. As shown in figure 2.5D, D715A inhibited generation of the Dsg2 ICF while D675A had minimal effects on Dsg2 ICF cleavage in response to TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment. These data indicate that caspase-8 is the primary protease responsible for Dsg2 ICF cleavage following TNF- α and IFN- γ exposure.

TRAIL promotes Dsg2 cleavage analogous to $TNF-\alpha$ and $IFN-\gamma$:

To assess if Dsg2 cleavage can be mediated another mechanism which activates the extrinsic apoptotic pathway, a time-course experiment was performed using TRAIL. TRAIL activates the TNF receptor family members Death Receptor 4 and Death Receptor 5 (DR4 and DR5), which initiate the extrinsic apoptosis pathway and caspase-8 activation (137). As with TNF- α and IFN- γ , Dsg2 ICF generation was induced within the first 6 hours of TRAIL treatment (**Figure 2.6A**). Furthermore, TRAIL also induced Dsg2 ectodomain shedding into the cell culture supernatant after initial generation of the Dsg2 ICF (12-24 hrs) (**Figure 2.6B**). Analogous to TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment, these effects were seen prior to maximal PARP cleavage 12-24 hrs after TRAIL exposure (**Figure 2.6A**). These data suggest that Dsg2 ICF and ECF generation are a response to stimulation of extrinsic apoptosis.

Expression of the Dsg2 ICF sensitizes epithelial cells to Apoptosis:

To determine if Dsg2 ICF generation sensitizes IECs to apoptosis, we exogenously expressed the Dsg2 ICF in SKCO15 model IECs by transduction with an adenovirus expressing myc-tagged Dsg2 cytoplasmic tail (amino acids 634-1117) (Dsg2 ICF) (**Figures 2.7A-C**). SKCO15 model IECs were used for these experiments since they have well developed intercellular junctions and can be readily transfected to express proteins. Additionally, to evaluate if plasma membrane tethering influences Dsg2 ICF mediated signaling and apoptosis, cells were transduced with adenoviruses expressing a fusion construct encoding myc-Dsg2 ICF and the extracellular and transmembrane

regions of the IL2R- α receptor (Figures 2.7A and B). The IL2R- α plasma membrane tether tagged with myc was expressed as a control (Figure 2.7A and B). These adenoviral constructs all encode the EGFP gene expressed through an Internal Ribosomal Entry Site (IRES) to mark transduced cells. As shown in Figure 2.7B, Dsg2 ICF expression was detected by western blotting using the intracellular specific epitope mapped monoclonal Dsg2 antibody 4B2. Analysis of the functional outcome revealed maximal PARP cleavage after expression of the non-tethered Dsg2 ICF-Myc supporting its role in increasing sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli (Figure 2.7C). Cells expressing the non-tethered Dsg2 ICF also displayed a decrease in the protein levels of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-X_L and Mcl1 (~49% and ~57% of control respectively) (Figure 2.7C). To assay the effects of Dsg2 ICF expression on mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization and cytochrome c release into the cytoplasm, we harvested cytoplasmic and mitochondria containing fractions of model IECs transduced with the above adenovirus constructs. Fractionation controls are shown in Figure 2.11. The cytoplasmic cytochrome c levels were increased in cells expressing the non-tethered Dsg2 ICF compared to controls (~218% of control) (Figure 2.7D). To further confirm increased apoptosis in cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF, Annexin V labeling was performed in live cells. Cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF displayed increased Annexin V labeling and cell loss compared to controls (Figure 2.8). These findings suggest that cleavage and release of Dsg2 ICF from the plasma membrane is associated with sensitization to apoptotic signaling and that downregulation of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members contributes to this process.

DISCUSSION:

Mechanisms of epithelial barrier compromise in response to inflammation remain incompletely understood. Mucosal inflammation perturbs IEC homeostatic signaling that is associated with compromised barrier function, which results in translocation of luminal antigen that further perpetuate the inflammatory response. Failure to control inflammation and epithelial barrier dysfunction has been observed in chronic diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (123,138). Thus, understanding mechanisms of epithelial barrier compromise is important in developing effective therapeutic strategies. Homeostatic mechanisms that are perturbed during mucosal inflammation include proteolytic cleavage of transmembrane cadherin proteins resulting in the generation of functional protein fragments (49,88,109-112,126,127,129,139-141). Few studies describe cadherin cleavage specifically in response to inflammatory stimuli. These primarily focus on the generation of extracellular cadherin fragments, which usually interfere with cadherin based adhesion or the maintenance of endothelial barrier tightness (49,140,141). Regardless of the stimulus responsible, in most scenarios the extracellular cadherin cleavage precedes intracellular cleavage. These sequence of events have been described for E-cadherin, N-cadherin, and VE-cadherin as well as Dsg2 and Dsg1 in keratinocytes (88,109-112). In contrast to these reports, we observed that Dsg2 undergoes intracellular cleavage prior to extracellular cleavage in response to proinflammatory cytokine signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. These differences are likely related to the cell type and stimulus that induces such responses. Little is known about

the relationship between intracellular and extracellular cadherin cleavage in response to inflammatory stimuli. However, one report showed that upon exposure of HUVECs to TNF- α , VE-cadherin undergoes cleavage in its extracellular and intracellular domains, and inhibiting extracellular cleavage suppresses intracellular cleavage (112). This suggests that, in response to TNF- α , VE-cadherin extracellular cleavage occurs prior to its intracellular cleavage.

Knowledge of the protease(s) responsible for generation of protein fragments provides crucial context to the functional effects of that fragment within the cell and in the overall pathology. Cadherin extracellular cleavage is most often mediated by matrix metalloproteinases. ADAM 10 promotes extracellular cleavage of E-, N-, and VEcadherin resulting in the generation of N-terminal fragments (NTFs). In a recent report, we observed that ADAM 10 and MMP9 were responsible for extracellular cleavage of Dsg2 in intestinal epithelial cells (49,110,127,139). In keratinocytes, ADAM 17 has been implicated in mediating extracellular cleavage of Dsg2 (111).

Cadherin intracellular cleavage however, can be somewhat complicated and several protease families have been implicated in mediating this event. For example, the most abundant E-cadherin C-terminal fragment (CTF2) is generated by γ -secretase, but other reports implicate cysteine proteases in mediating E-cadherin intracellular cleavage (88,135,142). Surprisingly, despite both the mechanistic similarities to notch signaling (extracellular cleavage by ADAM 10 and generation of a functional intracellular fragment) as well as the similarities of the Dsg2 ICF to the CTF2s of both E-cadherin and N-cadherin, we found that γ -secretase inhibition had no effect on Dsg2 ICF generation

(88,109,143,144). We therefore investigated the influence of other protease families in mediating Dsg2 intracellular cleavage.

The calpain family of intracellular cysteine proteases have been shown to mediate E-cadherin intracellular processing (135). Such E-cadherin intracellular cleavage was shown to leave behind a membrane bound $\sim 100 \text{ kDa N-terminal fragment (135)}$. Thus, analogous to the processing of Dsg2 in IECs, calpain mediated E-cadherin cleavage appears to occur before extracellular cleavage. However, we observed that inhibition of calpains caused an increase in Dsg2 ICF generation indicating that the activity of the protease responsible for generating this fragment was enhanced by calpain inhibition. We also observed that calpain inhibition resulted in increased abundance of active caspase-8. Not only have members of the caspase family of cysteine proteases been implicated in cadherin cleavage, their activity is known to be regulated by the calpains (88,91,136). While it is generally thought that calpains cleave and activate caspase-3, a previous report has shown that calpains cleave and inactivate the initiator caspases, caspase-8 and caspase-9 (Refs. 136,145-147). In keratinocytes, intracellular Dsg1 cleavage is mediated by caspases-3/-7. The cleavage site was identified to reside within the third Dsg1 repeated unit domain (RUD) thereby generating a ~17 kDa fragment (91). Cirillo et al. previously attributed generation of the Dsg2 ICF to caspase-3 based upon inhibitor studies using the caspase-3 selective inhibitor Z-DEVD-fmk (148). In our studies, Dsg2 ICF generation by TNF- α and IFN- γ was minimally influenced by this inhibitor at a concentration of 30 μ M. However, using 100 μ M Z-DEVD-fmk inhibited Dsg2 intracellular cleavage. It is to be cautioned that at high doses such inhibitors often have off target effects (149). Our study suggests a more definitive role of caspase-8 in

mediating Dsg2 intracellular cleavage. These results were supported by performing dose response studies using selective caspase inhibitors as well as by expression of two Dsg2 mutant constructs lacking putative caspase-8 cleavage sites (D715A and D675A). These sites were chosen based upon their ability to generate a ~55 kDa ICF and their similarities to known caspase-8 cleavage consensus sites. The identification of caspases as mediators of cadherin intracellular cleavage suggests that these mechanisms may play a larger role in apoptosis regulation.

The two primary pathways that lead to the execution of apoptosis are the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. Caspase-8 is one of the initiator caspases for the extrinsic pathway. This pathway is closely related to TNF- α pro-inflammatory signaling (131). This is because TNFR1 is one of the founding members of the "death receptor" family of transmembrane receptors whose activation is the first step in the extrinsic pathway (150). TNF- α Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) is another canonical extrinsic apoptotic stimulus that activates Death Receptors 4 and 5 (DR4/5) (ref. 22). In this study, we found that the Dsg2 ICF is generated in response to TRAIL treatment with similar kinetics to TNF- α and IFN- γ treatment. These observations indicate that generation of the Dsg2 ICF is a response to stimulation of the extrinsic apoptotic pathway. Thus, Dsg2 ICF generation may play a role in the response to extrinsic apoptosis activation through inflammatory mediators and in other scenarios such as use of chemotherapy agents that target DR4/5 or CD95 (Refs. 151,152). Following stimulation of death receptors, the extrinsic apoptotic cascade proceeds through activation of caspases-8 and/or -10. Once these initiator caspases have been activated, they cleave target proteins including procaspase-3 leading to its activation and the execution of apoptosis (131). Due to the

irreversible nature of activation through proteolysis, caspase-3 activation and apoptosis execution are tightly regulated through numerous upstream sensitization pathways. Therefore, the generation of the Dsg2 ICF by caspase-8 in response to both TNF- α and IFN- γ as well as TRAIL suggests that Dsg2 cleavage can represent a potential mechanism of sensitization in the apoptotic cascade. Since the sensitivity of IECs to apoptosis is a key factor in whether or not mucosal inflammation progresses towards effective resolution or development of chronic disease, this mechanism may play a role in the pathobiology of epithelial barrier dysfunction in inflammatory diseases.

There is a precedent for cadherin intracellular cleavage playing a role in apoptotic mechanisms. Most reports describing cadherin intracellular cleavage events used apoptotic stimuli. Although most of these have been intrinsic stimuli such as UV exposure, staurosporine, or camptothecin (88,91,142). However, the generation of the VE-cadherin intracellular fragment in response to TNF- α has been described (110). The same report that identified Dsg1 intracellular cleavage by caspases-3/-7 also showed that keratinocytes displayed increased resistance to UV induced apoptosis in response to shRNA knockdown of Dsg1 (Ref. 91). We have obtained similar results previously using siRNA knockdown of Dsg2 in IECs treated with camptothecin (129). In the current study, we observed that expression of Myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF in model IECs leads to increased sensitivity to apoptosis. IECs expressing the Dsg2 ICF also displayed reduced levels of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins, Bcl-X_L and Mcl1, at the protein level. The Bcl-2 family of proteins are key regulators of mitochondrial engagement in apoptosis, which is essential for intrinsic apoptosis as well as extrinsic apoptosis in type II extrinsic apoptotic cells such as IECs (132). These data indicate that the Dsg2 ICF

does, in fact, participate in sensitization to apoptotic stimuli and suggest that downregulation of $Bcl-X_L$ and Mcl1 plays a role in this process.

We have shown that TNF- α and IFN- γ exposure induces cleavage of Dsg2 mediated by caspase-8 leading to the generation of the Dsg2 ICF. Presence of this Dsg2 ICF causes sensitization to apoptosis through downregulation of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-X_L and Mcl1. This establishes Dsg2 intracellular cleavage as a mechanism that mediates apoptosis of cells that are exposed to an inflammatory insult (**Figure 2.9A**). Of interest, the dying cells subsequently release the Dsg2 ECF, which can signal to surrounding cells to promote proliferation and repair through activation of HER2 and HER3 signaling (**Figure 2.9B**) (49). Considering that the Dsg2 ICF is generated before the Dsg2 ECF, we propose that during mucosal inflammation these events mediate death and loss of damaged IECs through Dsg2 ICF signaling, while subsequent generation of the Dsg2 ECF can have paracrine effects on surrounding epithelial cells to promote proliferation and repair.







Figure 2.2: TNF-α and IFN-γ promote Dsg2 intracellular and extracellular cleavage. A) Model of Dsg2 with mapped epitopes for AH12.2 (extracellular [N-term] specific) and 4B2 (intracellular [C-term] specific) monoclonal antibodies. EC=extracellular cadherin domain; EA=extracellular anchor; TM=transmembrane domain; IA=intracellular anchor; ICS=intracellular cadherin-typical sequence; IPL=intracellular

proline-rich linker domain; RUD=repeated-unit domain; DTD=desmoglein-specific terminal domain. B) Top. Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ for 24 h. Bottom. Densitometry of blots. Density for all bands in each lane were collected. The ratio of the density of the ~55 kDa Dsg2 ICF band to the density of all bands for a given lane was then calculated. The data in the graph is the average of these ratios within each experimental group. *, p=0.0067; #, p=0.0003 n=11 per group. For full lanes of Dsg2 C-term blot please see Figure 2.10A. C) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term of cell culture supernatants of T-84s treated as in Figure 2.2B. For full lanes of Dsg2 N-term blot please see Figure 2.10B. D) Top. Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence or absence of GI254023X for 24 h. Bottom. Densitometry of blots. Densitometry collected and analyzed as for Figure 2.2B. $n \ge 4$ per group. E) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term of cell culture supernatants of T-84s treated as in Figure 2.2D. F) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ for 6 h, 12 h, or 24 h. G) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term of T-84 cell culture supernatants of cells treated as in Figure 2.2F. All blots are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 2.3: Re-localization of Dsg2 C-terminal tail in response to TNF-\alpha and IFN-\gamma. Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term in T-84 cells treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ for 24 h. Scalebars=20 µm. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments.







Figure 2.5: Caspase-8 is responsible for Dsg2 ICF generation. A) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence or absence of Z-VAD-fmk for 24 h. B) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term of cell culture supernatants of T-84s treated as in Figure 2.5A. C) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations of either Z-DEVD-fmk, Z-IETD-fmk, or Z-LEHD-fmk for 24 h. D) Cos7 cells were transfected with expression plasmids encoding either WT Dsg2 [WT], or Dsg2 containing one of two putative caspase-8 cleavage consensus site mutations (D715A [715] or D675A [675]). Cells treated with Lipofectamine 3000 reagents alone with no DNA were used as controls [N/A]. *Top.* Western blot against the Myc tag (Top=Dsg2 full length band; Middle=Dsg2 ICF band; Bottom=Tubulin). *Bottom.* Model of WT Dsg2, D715A, and D675A depicting region of Dsg2 containing sequences mutated in each highlighting the mutated residues in red. All blots are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 2.6: TRAIL treatment induces Dsg2 ECF and ICF generation similarly to TNF- α and IFN- γ . A) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term and against PARP of cell lysates of T-84s treated with TRAIL for 6 h, 12 h, or 24 h. B) Western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term of cell culture supernatants of T-84s treated as in Figure 2.6A. All blots are representative of at least three independent experiments.





Abbreviations: Mito, mitochondria; Cyto-c, cytochrome c.


GFP Annexin V

Figure 2.8: Annexin V staining also indicates increased apoptosis sensitivity in cells expressing Dsg2 ICF. Fluorescence and light microscopy merged images of SKCO15 cells treated as in Figure 2.7B and labeled with Alexa fluor 568 conjugated annexin V [red]. GFP is in green. All images are representative of at least three independent experiments. Scalebars=100 μ m. Images are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 2.9: Dsg2 ICF generation sensitizes IECs to apoptosis. A) Stimulation of death receptors (such as TNFR1 or DR4/5) results in activation of caspase-8, which cleaves Dsg2 intracellularly generating the Dsg2 ICF as well as other substrates including the Bcl-2 family member Bid generating tBid. The presence of the Dsg2 ICF reduces Bcl- X_L and Mcl1 protein levels, thereby alleviating their inhibition of tBid and allowing for MOMP and the execution of apoptosis to proceed. Following Dsg2 ICF generation, MMP9 and ADAM10 cleave Dsg2 in the extracellular domain generating the Dsg2 ECF. B) We have previously shown that this Dsg2 ECF promotes wound closure by stimulating IEC proliferation through activation of Her2/3 signaling. We propose that the Dsg2 ICF and ECF work in concert to remove damaged IECs and promote wound closure to help ensure effective resolution of inflammation.

Abbreviations: Pro-Cas8, Pro-caspase-8; Cas8, caspase-8; Cyto-c, cytochrome-c.



Figure 2.10: Full lanes of blots for C-terminal and N-terminal Dsg2. A) Full lanes of western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 C-term shown in Figure 2.2B. **B)** Full lanes of western blot using an antibody against Dsg2 N-term shown in Figure 2.2C. All blots are representative of at least three independent experiments.

А



Figure 2.11: Fractionation controls for Figure 2.7D. A) *Top.* Western blot for Na/K ATPase, PARP, and GAPDH from indicated fractions of SKCO15 cells treated as in Figure 2.7B [Control and T virus transduced samples]. *Bottom.* Western blot for Na/K ATPase, PARP, and GAPDH from indicated fractions of SKCO15 cells treated as in Figure 2.7B [T-ICF and ICF virus transduced samples]. All blots are representative of at least three independent experiments. We have found that the mitochondria are enriched in the membrane fraction and are absent from the cytoplasmic fraction when using this fractionation kit (Milipore; Tamecula, CA, USA). Abbreviations: Cyto, cytoplasmic; Mem, membrane (mitochondria containing); Nuc, nuclear. **B**) Western blot for cytochrome c, Na/K ATPase, and Bcl-2 of mitochondria containing fractions from SKCO15s treated as in Figure 2.7B.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES:

Antibodies and Reagents:

The following primary monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies were used to detect proteins by immunoblot analysis: mouse anti-Dsg2 {extracellular} (clone AH12.2, generated in-house; (129,153) [1:1000], mouse anti-Dsg2 {intracellular} [1:750] (clone 4B2; a kind gift from Dr. K.J. Green, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL), mouse anti-beta-actin (clone AC-74) [1:5000-1:10000], rabbit anti-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) [1:20000], mouse-anti-tubulin (clone DM1A [1:10000]; Sigma-Aldrich; St. Louis, MO, USA), rabbit anti-cleaved PARP (clone D64E10 XP(r)) [1:1000], rabbit anti-PARP [1:1000], rabbit anti-Bcl-X_L (clone 54H6) [1:2000], rabbit anti-cleaved Notch (clone D3B8) [1:1000], rabbit anti-cytochrome c (clone D18C7) [1:1000], mouse anti-caspase-8 (clone 1C12), mouse anti-Myc tag (clone 9B11; Cell Signaling Technology; Danvers, CT, USA) [1:5000], rabbit anti-Na/K ATPase [1:100000] (clone EP1845Y; Abcam; Cambridge, MA, USA), rabbit anti-Mcl1 [1:3000] (Enzo Life Sciences; Farmingdale, NY, USA), Armenian hamster anti-Bcl-2 [1:125] (BD Biosceicnes; San Jose, CA, USA), rabbit anti-bovine serum albumin (BSA) (clone B-140) [1:10000], rat anti-guanylate binding protein-1 (GBP-1 (clone 1B1) [1:750]; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Goat anti-mouse and anti-rabbit HRPconjugated secondary antibodies were obtained from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA, USA) and used at a concentration of 1:10000. Mouse anti-armenian/Syrian hamster HRP conjugated secondary antibody cocktail (clones G70-204/G94-56) was purchased from BD Biosciences and used at a concentration of 1:1000. Recombinant human TNF- α , IFN- γ , and TRAIL were purchased from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ, USA). Z-VAD-fmk was purchased from Enzo Life Sciences, Calpeptin was purchased from EMD Millipore (Billerica, MA, USA), GI454023X was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Z-DEVD-fmk, Z-LEHD-fmk, and Z-IETD-fmk were all purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA).

Cell Culture:

T-84 and SKCO15 human model IEC were cultured both on Transwell[™] permeable supports and on tissue culture treated plastic as previously described (154,155). Cos7 monkey model kidney fibroblast cells were cultured as described previously (156). For TNF- α +IFN- γ dose dependency experiments, cells were treated with media alone (control), 100 Units/mL of IFN- γ +10 ng/mL TNF- α , or 200 Units/mL of IFN- γ +20 ng/mL TNF- α . For time-course experiments, T-84 model IECs were treated with either 200 Units/mL of IFN-γ+20 ng/mL TNF-α or 100 ng/mL of TRAIL for 0 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h. For transient plasmid transfection, Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen; Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used according to manufacturer's instructions. Cell culture media was replaced 24 h after transfection with either media alone or media containing 200 Units/mL of IFN- γ +20 ng/mL TNF- α . Samples were collected for immunoblotting 24 h after application of cytokine or control treatment. For cells cultured on Transwell permeable supports with 3 µm pore size filters (Corning), transepilthelial electrical resistance was measured using an EVOM voltmeter with an ENDOHM-12 (World Precision Instruments; Sarasota, FL, USA). Electrical resistance was expressed as $\Omega x cm^2$. For calculation, the resistance of blank filters was subtracted from that of filters covered with cells.

Inhibitor Treatment:

Confluent T-84 cells on Transwell permeable supports were treated with the following inhibitors 1 h before treatment with 200 Units/mL of IFN- γ +20 ng/mL TNF- α : 10 μ M GI254023X, 50 μ M Z-VAD-fmk, 20 μ M/50 μ M calpeptin, 10 μ M DAPT,10 μ M/30 μ M/100 μ M Z-DEVD-fmk, 10 μ M/30 μ M/100 μ M Z-IETD-fmk, 10 μ M/30 μ M/100 μ M Z-LEHD-fmk.

Immunoblotting:

For *in vitro* cell cultures, confluent monolayers were collected in RIPA (20 mM Tris-Base, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM EGTA, 1% Sodium deoxycholate, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, pH 7.4) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were incubated at 4°C for 20 mins and centrifuged (8000xg at 4°C for 10 min). For cell culture supernatants, supernatants were cleared by centrifugation (5000xg 4°C for 5 min). Protein concentration was determined using a Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific; Marietta, OH, USA). NuPAGE LDS Sample Buffer (Life Technologies; Eugene, OR, USA) with a final concentration of 100 mM DTT (Sigma-Aldrich) was used. Samples were boiled for 5 mins at 100°C and loaded onto polyacrylamide gels (TNF α +IFN- γ or TRAIL lysate samples=30 µg protein/lane; adenoviral transduction lysates=10 µg protein/lane; cell culture supernatants=30 µL of sample/lane; cell fraction samples=22 µg protein/lane). After electrophoresis, the samples were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad; Hercules, CA, USA) and probed with primary antibodies and HRP conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson ImmunoResearch Labs). Immunoblots were quantified using ImageJ (National Institutes of Health; Bethesda, MD, USA) or an Amersham 600 Blot Imaging System (GE Healthcare; Piscataway, NJ, USA). To calculate the amount of the Dsg2 ICF generated under each condition in Figures 1B and 1F, the density of bands representing Dsg2 cleavage products as well as the full length protein were collected and the ratio of the density of the Dsg2 ICF band to the density of all bands for a given lane was then calculated. For all densitometric analysis, each individual data point was derived from measurement of a distinct sample.

Adenovirus Transduction:

Fifteen minutes prior to adenoviral transduction, SKCO15 model IECs were calcium switched using calcium switch reagent (10 mM HEPES, 25 mM EGTA, pH 7.4). Following this, the Dsg2 ICF-Myc and IL2R-Dsg2 ICF-Myc viruses were added at an MOI of 1 and the IL2R-Myc virus was added at an MOI of 10 to ensure equal exogenous protein expression. Cells were centrifuged for 1 h at 1200xg at 37°C and then placed into a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Samples were used 48h following initial virus addition unless otherwise specified.

For western blot analysis, sample preparation was as described above.

Cell Fractionation:

To generate the cytoplasmic and mitochondria containing cellular fractions, we used the Compartmental Protein Extraction Kit (Millipore; Temecula, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Immunofluorescence labeling:

Confluent T-84 monolayers grown on Transwell permeable supports were fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS+ for 15 minutes. Samples were washed three times using PBS+ and then permebialized using 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS+ for 10 minutes. Following washing, samples were blocked in 3% BSA in PBS+ for 30 minutes and labeled with 4B2 [1:100] in 3% BSA in PBS+ for 2 hours. The samples were then washed and incubated with goat anti-mouse secondary antibodies conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen; [1:1000]) in 3% BSA in PBS+ for 1 hour, washed and mounted onto charged glass slides using Prolong gold (Life Technologies; Eugene, OR, USA). Images were collected on a Leica SP5 confocal microscope and processed using ImageJ.

Annexin V Fluorescent Imaging:

Alexa Fluor 568 conjugated Annexin V (Life Technologies) was used for fluorescent live-cell imaging according to manufacturer's instructions with minor modifications. Briefly, model SKCO15 cells were transduced with the Dsg2 ICF-Myc, IL2R-Dsg2 ICF-Myc, and IL2R-Myc adenoviral constructs as described above. Cells were washed in ice cold PBS+ three times followed by incubation with 10 μ L of labeled Annexin V per 100 μ L of annexin-binding buffer (10 mM HEPES, 140 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, pH 7.4) for 15 minutes. Cells were washed three times using annexin-binding buffer and imaged using a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope. Images were exported as TIFFs and processed using ImageJ.

Statistics:

Statistical significance was calculated using either One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's test for multiple comparisons or Two-Way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test for multiple comparisons dependent upon the experimental design. Results displayed as means \pm SEM; p<0.05 was considered significant.

Chapter 3: Discussion

Here we described how the intracellular cleavage of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 2 (Dsg2) constitutes a mechanism by which extrinsic apoptotic stimuli can sensitize intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) to apoptosis. I characterized the extracellular and intracellular cleavage of Dsg2 in response to TNF- α and IFN- γ as well as TNF- α Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) stimulation. I showed that the generation of the Dsg2 intracellular fragment (ICF) is the first step in this mechanism, preceding both the execution of apoptosis itself and the generation of the Dsg2 extracellular fragment (ECF). I identified the intracellular cysteine aspartate protease caspase-8 as the protease responsible for generating the Dsg2 ICF. Using adenoviral expression vectors encoding a Myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF as well as other control constructs, I demonstrated that the presence of the Dsg2 ICF causes a noticeable repression of the steady state protein levels of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-X_L and Mcl1. Preliminary data suggested that the Dsg2 ICF represses Mcl1 through modulation of its stability whereas it represses the mRNA and protein expression of Bcl-X_L through yet to be fully defined mechanisms (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data). Furthermore, I showed that the presence of the Dsg2 ICF results in increased apoptosis sensitivity and execution as well as directly measure increased MOMP and cytochrome c release in cells expressing freefloating Dsg2 ICF compared to controls. These studies add to a small but growing body of literature showing that distinct cadherin protein fragments can operate as important signaling mediators.

To date, only a few examples of cadherin protein fragment mediated signaling are described within the literature (50,89,90,116). Despite our incomplete understanding of these mechanisms, cadherin protein fragments have already been shown to regulate key

cellular functions including apoptosis (Chapter 2), proliferation (50,116), and neural crest cell delamination during development (90). Our studies reveal an important role for Dsg2 cleavage in the effective execution and resolution of inflammation.

<u>A model for Dsg2 cleavage as a beneficial signaling mechanism during</u> inflammation:

Our findings that the Dsg2 ICF is generated by the physiologically relevant inflammatory stimuli TNF- α and IFN- γ and sensitizes IECs to apoptosis suggest that the generation of the Dsg2 ICF may play a role in ensuring effective clearance of damaged cells following inflammatory insult. My mentor's laboratory has previously published that in response to TNF- α or IL-1 β stimulation, Dsg2 undergoes extracellular cleavage that is mediated by ADAM 10 and MMP9 resulting in the release of a stable extracellular fragment of Dsg2, the Dsg2 ECF that has distinct paracrine signaling properties (116). Most notably, it enhances the activity of the Her2 and Her3 receptor signaling pathways to promote cell proliferation (116). In Chapter 2, we show that in response to both TNF- α and IFN- γ as well as TRAIL the Dsg2 ICF is generated well before the Dsg2 ECF, which accumulates following 24 hours of treatment. These studies lead to a model where these two Dsg2 cleavage events work together to enhance the clearance of damaged cells following an inflammatory insult and resolution of the inflammatory response (Figure **2.9**). In this model, following exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α and IFN- γ , IECs activate caspase-8 and cleave Dsg2 resulting in generation of the Dsg2 ICF. Through yet to be fully characterized mechanisms, this Dsg2 ICF represses the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl-X_L and Mcl1 thereby promoting mitochondrial

outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) and apoptosis. It is likely that Mcl1 is lost first since repression due to changes in protein stability often occur fairly quickly. However, if cells endure prolonged exposure to high levels of inflammatory stimuli and there is sustained generation of the Dsg2 ICF, the loss of Bcl-X_L mRNA and protein expression due to the presence of the Dsg2 ICF will synergize with the loss of Mcl1 to further stimulate apoptosis in these cells. This will help ensure effective elimination of cells that have been too damaged by the inflammatory response. This is likely to target certain cells that are more directly localized in the inflamed areas of the intestine, which would be closer to the threshold of apoptotic stimulation necessary to undergo MOMP. Following this, Dsg2 will then be extracellularly cleaved by ADAM 10 and MMP9 resulting in the release of the Dsg2 ECF into the extracellular milieu. The extracellular fragment stimulates proliferation of nearby healthy cells by binding to the Her2 and Her3 receptors and activating their downstream signaling including through the Akt, mTOR, and p38MAPK pathways (116). These events serve to promote healing of epithelial injury that is associated with excessive cell death. Thus, inhibition of Dsg2 cleavage in inflammatory states can have detrimental effects on elimination of dead cells and repair of the epithelial barrier.

Specific mouse genetic models will be required to best test this hypothesis. The most ideal experiment to address this would one in which CRISPR/Cas9 technology is used to create knock in mice replacing wild type Dsg2 with mutant Dsg2 incapable of generating the Dsg2 ICF, ECF, or both that would then be subjected to multiple colitis models. The severity of disease activity, proliferation of cells surrounding ulcers, degree of apoptosis or epithelial erosion, etc. would all be characterized in these models to

understand the roles that the Dsg2 ICF and ECF play throughout the course of colitis. Since we are unsure if Dsg2 ECF generation requires generation of the ICF first, it is possible that the mice expressing the Dsg2 ICF deficient mutant protein and the double mutant protein will have the same phenotype.

Dependency of Dsg2 ECF generation on Dsg2 ICF generation:

The mechanisms by which most cadherins are cleaved following apoptotic stimulation entail generation of an extracellular fragment which then facilitates the generation of an intracellular fragment (91,110-112,157,158). In several of these mechanisms, inhibition of the extracellular fragment inhibits generation of the intracellular fragment (110,112). We however, found that the Dsg2 ICF is generated prior to the generation of the Dsg2 ECF. While we showed that inhibition of the Dsg2 ICF using the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-fmk diminishes the presence of the Dsg2 ECF, whether or not the generation of the Dsg2 ECF is completely dependent upon Dsg2 ICF generation is unknown. This could be addressed by first generating knock-in cells replacing wild type Dsg2 with the caspase-8 cleavage site null mutant. These cells would then be treated with TNF- α and IFN- γ followed by analysis of Dsg2 ECF shedding into the cell culture media will address this question.

Mechanistic basis for Dsg2 ICF signaling:

In Chapter 2, we showed that cells expressing the non-tethered Dsg2 ICF display an increase in PARP cleavage indicating increased caspase-3 activation and apoptosis execution. The presence of the Dsg2 ICF also increases cytoplasmic cytochrome C, indicating that the Dsg2 ICF participates in a mechanism that results in increased MOMP. We show that the presence of the Dsg2 ICF suppresses the steady state protein levels of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members Bcl- X_L and Mcl1, suggesting that this is the mechanism through which the Dsg2 ICF mediates increased MOMP. However, the molecular mechanisms by which the Dsg2 ICF itself suppresses Bcl- X_L and Mcl1 steady state protein levels have not been fully described.

The E-cadherin CTF2, which is similar in nature to the Dsg2 ICF, has been shown to participate in nuclear transcriptional regulation (89). Cytoplasmic binding of the Ecadherin CTF2 to p120 catenin facilitates its nuclear localization. Once in the nucleus, these proteins complex with the transcription factor Kaiso to enhance its transcriptional signaling program (89). In support of the Dsg2 ICF potentially participating in a similar mechanism, we have seen by qPCR that expression of the Dsg2 ICF results in a ~50% reduction in relative steady state mRNA levels for Bcl-X_L. These findings suggest that the presence of the Dsg2 ICF transcriptionally represses Bcl-X_L expression (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data).

In light of the data presented in Chapter 2 two major questions regarding how the Dsg2 ICF influences Bcl-X_L transcription remain: 1) Does the Dsg2 ICF localize to the nucleus, 2) what are the Dsg2 ICF binding partner(s) and how do they influence its signaling? The immunofluorescence labeling and confocal microscopy presented in Chapter 2 were inconclusive regarding the exact sub-cellular localization of the Dsg2 ICF. Additionally, previous attempts to perform immunofluorescence labeling in cells expressing the Myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF were inconclusive. Therefore, alternative approaches are needed to determine if the Dsg2 ICF localizes to the nucleus.

Biochemical cellular fractionation of cells expressing myc-tagged Dsg2 ICF would allow for determination of the cellular compartment(s) in which the fragment resides. Other potential methods include the proximity ligation assay, however this would only work if the Dsg2 ICF comes into close enough proximity to whichever nuclear protein is used as the second target in the PLA and would not show if the fragment localizes to other compartments. In order to address the question of the Dsg2 ICF's binding partner(s), a co-immunoprecipitation experiment followed by mass spectrometry proteomic analysis would allow for identification of proteins that form a stable complex with the Dsg2 ICF. Highly enriched proteins that are known to influence transcriptional regulation (i.e. transcription factors, p120, plakoglobin, β -catenin, etc.) would be validated. Following validation, specific siRNA mediated knock down of the putative binding partner in the context of Dsg2 ICF expression can be used to determine if it rescues the functional effects of the Dsg2 ICF. This could also be achieved through use of a similar strategy but instead utilizing BioID technology to have any protein that comes within ~10 nm of Dsg2 ICF tagged with the enzyme BirA to be covalently tagged with biotin. This would then be followed by an affinity precipitation using streptavidin coated beads and the samples would then be processed as described above for the proposed Co-IP mass spec experiment. A chromatin immunoprecipitation (Ch-IP) assay using an antibody against the Myc tag from cells expressing the non-tethered Dsg2 ICF followed by sequencing could determine if the Dsg2 ICF is part of a regulatory complex that directly interfaces with the Bcl2L1 gene. This is because, if the Dsg2 ICF were part of a stable protein complex that regulates Bcl2L1 gene expression through direct binding, this complex should co-immunoprecipitate and will remain bound to any DNA sequences it was bound

to (following crosslinking of the DNA to all bound proteins using formaldehyde or UV light). These bound DNA sequences can then be used to determine the DNA targets of any protein complexes containing the Dsg2 ICF. This method could also potentially identify other sequences that the Dsg2 ICF may bind to. This, of course, is assuming that the mechanism through which the Dsg2 ICF influences Bcl-X_L's transcription is similar in nature to the mechanism described for the E-cadherin CTF2.

There are other mechanisms through which the Dsg2 ICF could influence transcription including regulation of transcription factor expression and modulation of epigenetic mechanisms. Since in our experiments the functional effects of the Dsg2 ICF are assayed 48 hours post adenovirus transduction and Dsg2 ICF overexpression, it is not unreasonable to propose an epigenetic component to the mechanism of Dsg2 ICF signaling. A qPCR based array plate containing primers specific to many important transcription factors could be utilized to determine whether or not the Dsg2 ICF regulates transcription factor expression. As with the mass spectrometry experiment described above, the initial identification of such factors would be validated. Following validation, candidate proteins would be either knocked down or overexpressed in the context of Dsg2 ICF expression to assess their potential role in the functional effects of the Dsg2 ICF. Transcriptional regulation is often mediated by altering the patterns of various histone modifications (i.e. acetylation and/or histone mono-, di-, or tri-methylation, etc.) that can dramatically affect gene expression. Ch-IP Seq based assays utilizing antibodies against specific histone modifications could be used to determine if the Dsg2 ICF influences these modifications genome wide. Additionally, whole genome bisulfite sequencing using cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF would determine if the Dsg2 ICF

influences the placement or removal of repressive DNA methylation marks. Not only would these data potentially tell us a great deal about the mechanistic basis of Dsg2 ICF signaling, it could potentially identify additional signaling targets of the fragment to study further.

While our qPCR results suggested that the Dsg2 ICF regulates $Bcl-X_L$ through transcriptional repression, they also showed that expression of the Dsg2 ICF results in an increase in the steady state levels of Mcl1 mRNA despite the reduction in protein levels shown in chapter 2 (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data). This indicates that the Dsg2 ICF regulates Mcl1 repression through a mechanistically distinct mechanism from the one it uses to regulate $Bcl-X_L$. Mcl1 is a notoriously labile protein that is rapidly degraded by the proteasome, suggesting that the Dsg2 ICF influences Mcl1 protein stability likely through regulation of its proteasomal degradation (159). This could be tested through the use of proteasome inhibitors. However, the use of proteasome inhibitors dramatically increased baseline Mcl1 levels, and made the analysis of the resulting data complicated (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data). Use of densitometric analysis only comparing samples that have received the same proteasome inhibitor treatment may be able to address the question of whether or not the Dsg2 ICF enhances the proteasomal degradation of Mcl1. Additionally, immunoprecipitating Mcl1 out of Dsg2 ICF expressing cells and performing a subsequent western blot for the levels of ubiquitination present on the precipitated protein could begin to address the role of the Dsg2 ICF in regulating the proteasomal degradation of MCl1.

Previously published evidence show that the Dsg2 binding partner plakoglobin (Pg) performs signaling functions similar to those displayed by the Dsg2 ICF (80,160).

However, when we assayed the apoptotic functional outputs of Dsg2 ICF expression with and without siRNA mediated Pg knock down, we observed that the loss of Pg increased the magnitude of PARP cleavage and $Bcl-X_L$ repression instead of reversing them (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data). This suggests that plakoglobin (Pg) may suppress these pro-apoptotic effects of the Dsg2 ICF. This could involve direct binding of Pg to the Dsg2 ICF preventing it from participating in the mechanism it uses to suppress Bcl-X_L. Co-IP experiments in which antibodies against Pg were used to pull the Dsg2 ICF and vice versa would show whether or not there is appreciable binding between them. If Pg does stably bind to the Dsg2 ICF, whether or not this affects the Dsg2 ICF's functional effects could be addressed by mutagenesis studies. This could be achieved by expressing the Dsg2 ICF in cells that have a knock-in of a Pg mutant that lacks the residues required for Dsg2 binding. Alternatively, a mutant form of the Dsg2 ICF in which the residues required for binding to Pg were mutated could be expressed in WT cells and compared to cells expressing the WT Dsg2 ICF for their ability to elicit the functional effects described in Chapter 2.

<u>The implications of cadherin intracellular fragments as independent signaling</u> <u>mediators:</u>

We showed that the Dsg2 ICF, which is generated by caspase-8 following extrinsic apoptotic stimulation, acts as a signaling mediator independently of other stimuli (Chapter 2). The only two other cadherin intracellular fragments known to behave in a similar way are the E-cadherin and N-cadherin CTF2s (89,90,157,158). However, this does not mean that other cadherin intracellular fragments are not also

acting as important signaling mediators in other contexts. It has been previously described that caspases-3 and -7 can cleave Dsg1 generating a ~17 kDa intracellular fragment and shRNA knock down of Dsg1 desensitizes cells to apoptosis (91). Exogenous expression of the Dsg1 intracellular fragment in keratinocytes would more specifically address whether or not the caspase generated fragment itself is responsible for the apoptosis sensitization that is lost upon Dsg1 knock down. Similarly to Dsg1, Dsg3 has been shown to be cleaved intracellularly by caspase-3 resulting in an intracellular fragment (161). However, whether or not this fragment can mediate signaling on its own has not been directly addressed. The use of exogenous expression based studies similar to those proposed above would be able to answer this question. Previous studies have shown that VE-cadherin is cleaved intracellularly generating an intracellular fragment during the process of its degradation following internalization (162). The same study also showed that the accumulation of this fragment only occurred following lysosomal inhibition using chloroquine (162). This suggests that while VEcadherin may be processed somewhat similarly to E-cadherin, N-cadherin, and Dsg2, the resulting fragment likely has little to no relevant signaling capabilities. Even though it is possible that the desmocollins may have signaling competent intracellular fragments, these studies await demonstration of stable intracellular fragment generation in response to stimulation of a physiologically relevant mechanism.

Additional functions of Dsg2 ICF signaling:

The Dsg2 ICF likely influences other aspects of homeostasis and epithelial cell function. In fact, preliminary data suggests that even in the absence of caspase activity

the expression of the Dsg2 ICF suppresses proliferation. We have shown that in the absence of caspase activity through treatment with Z-VAD-fmk, cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF display noticeably lower levels of Ki67 positivity, which is a marker for proliferation (Yulis and Nusrat, unpublished data). The transcription factor array and Co-IP mass spec proteomic analyses that were proposed earlier to study the general mechanisms by which the Dsg2 ICF mediates its signaling as well as an array to assay expression profiles of proteins that classically modulate cell proliferation will likely shed light onto the mechanisms at play here. Even though much of our work on the Dsg2 ICF has been focused on its modulation of intracellular signaling mechanisms, there is still a high likelihood that its presence influences Dsg2's adhesive functions as well. This leads to a model in which the presence of the Dsg2 ICF competes with junction associated Dsg2 for binding to key intracellular plaque proteins (i.e. plakoglobin) that are required for full desmosomal adhesive strength and thereby compromises cell-cell adhesion. The question of whether or not the Dsg2 ICF influences IEC intercellular adhesion can be addressed by performing either a dispase assay or a hanging drop assay. However, since the Dsg2 ICF's expression promotes cell death and loss of epithelial monolayer integrity, the hanging drop assay is a more viable method (Chapter 2). Another likely mechanism for the loss of desmosomal adhesion in the presence of the Dsg2 ICF would be internalization of Dsg2. To address this, a surface biotinylation assay followed by streptavidin affinity precipitation using cells expressing the Dsg2 ICF could be used. The samples would then be run on an immunoblot using the extracellular specific epitope mapped Dsg2 monoclonal antibody AH12.2 to compare the abundance of biotinylated

Dsg2 in Dsg2 ICF expressing samples to controls. This would determine whether or not the Dsg2 ICF's presence influences Dsg2 internalization.

The role of inflammation in Dsg2 cleavage:

Inflammation is a multifaceted process that involves complex signaling and activates multiple mechanisms. Many of these mechanisms can influence and synergize with one another. Since the extrinsic apoptotic stimuli used in Chapter 2 to generate the Dsg2 ICF (TNF- α and TRAIL) are both in some way involved in activating nonapoptotic inflammatory signaling pathways, it is arguably unknown whether or not nonapoptotic inflammatory signaling mechanisms may also be playing a role in generation of the Dsg2 ICF. This could be done by combining one of the extrinsic apoptotic stimuli used in Chapter 2 with inhibition of canonical inflammatory signal transduction. Since TRAIL is arguably less directly involved in the stimulation of inflammatory signaling processes than TNF- α , it is a more suitable choice for the stimulus. However, several reports have provided evidence that TRAIL treatment can result in the expression of multiple inflammatory cytokines and chemokines as well as activation of JNK, p38MAPK, and NF- κ B (163-166). This suggests that TRAIL could potentially influence other canonical inflammatory signaling pathways. Additionally, these reports show that the TRAIL stimulated expression of these inflammatory cytokines and chemokines is inhibited or reversed by the inhibiting of the activation of p38MAPK, NF- κ B, and/or JNK (163-165). Therefore, pre-treatment of model IECs with inhibitors to these three inflammatory signaling mediators followed by a time-course of TRAIL treatment should at least begin to address the potential role of canonical inflammatory signaling in the

generation of the Dsg2 ICF. It is of note that the activation of caspase-8 was found to be required for effective activation of JNK, p38MAPK, and NF- κ B following TRAIL treatment (166). Since mutation of the putative caspase-8 cleavage site centered on aspartate 715 in human Dsg2 eliminates intracellular fragment generation (Chapter 2), this suggests that the Dsg2 ICF may also be generated before the activation of JNK, p38MAPK, and NF- κ B by TRAIL.

Dsg2 cleavage during intrinsic apoptosis:

We have previously published that the Dsg2 ICF is also generated in response to intrinsic apoptotic stimulation using the topoisomerase II inhibitor camptothecin (129). Since caspase-8 is not involved in the execution of intrinsic apoptosis, the identity of the caspase responsible for generating the Dsg2 ICF under these conditions requires further investigation. A dose response study using selective caspase inhibitors similarly to the one presented in Chapter 2 would more definitively address this question. However, for this experiment the cells would be stimulated using camptothecin or another intrinsic apoptotic stimulus. Additionally, to avoid any off target effects of the selective caspase inhibitors, targeted knock down experiments could be performed to address this question. Cells transfected with siRNA targeting caspases-3, -8, and -9 could then be treated with an intrinsic apoptotic stimulus followed by a western blot for Dsg2 ICF generation will determine which caspase is responsible for generating the Dsg2 ICF under these conditions. Since the repression of Bcl-X_L and Mcl1 following MOMP should not have great physiological relevance, this experiment would primarily resolve the lingering

question of the identity of the protease that generates the Dsg2 ICF following intrinsic apoptotic stimulation.

<u>Placing the Dsg2 ICF and its signaling functions into the broader context of</u> cadherin mediated signaling:

We have used *in vitro* human model intestinal epithelial cell culture as a system to characterize a cadherin cleavage mechanism and determine the functional effects of the resulting intracellular fragment. In vitro cell culture allowed for interrogating the nature of the generation of the Dsg2 ICF, its signaling potential, and the outcomes of that signaling with relative ease and efficiency. This system permitted the use of various transfection or transduction techniques as well as use of inhibitors or stimuli to more directly probe the roles that each potential member of this mechanism played. Since these are cancer cells with different dynamics regarding pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member expression, the degree of apoptosis stimulation seen here may differ from that seen in primary cells. However, this does not at all diminish the fact that in either cancer or primary cells, repression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins by the Dsg2 ICF will sensitize these cells to apoptosis. The work presented here lays the foundation for follow-up studies to more fully characterize the breadth of signaling that the Dsg2 ICF participates in as well as provides valuable precedent for studies into similar signaling mechanisms involving other cadherins.

Our current understanding of cadherin mediated signaling is focused on specific groupings or generally accepted fields of inquiry (i.e. the classical cadherins E-cadherin and VE-cadherin in the regulation of apoptosis and/or proliferation; the desmosomal

cadherins in the proper differentiation of the skin, etc.). For example, there is a large body of work that addresses signaling functions of desmoglein-3 (Dsg3) and desmoglein-1 (Dsg1) specifically in the context of the autoimmune diseases pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus respectively (77-79). Even so, whether or not these effects are even specifically mediated by Dsg3 or Dsg1 is still not well established (73,75,76). However, a number of studies have provided support for the participation of different cadherins in different functional contexts (64,65,116,129). This suggests that we have only begun to explore the breadth of cadherin mediated signaling.

Additionally, the majority of studies that have analyzed cadherin mediated signaling focus mostly on knock-down or knock-out of the cadherin in question or interference with its adhesive functions resulting in perturbation of the signaling mechanism being studied. More often than not, these studies either do not definitively define the nature of the cadherin's role in the mechanism or describe mechanisms in which the cadherin acts as an important scaffold at the membrane and in their respective junction. Several examples exist of other mechanisms for cadherin mediated signaling, predominantly through the generation of stable protein fragments through regulated cleavage. However, most of these involve extracellular cadherin protein fragments (50,59,69,116). The few instances of cadherin intracellular fragments directly modulating cellular signaling pathways have been described in complex experimental systems and involved the classical cadherins N-cadherin and E-cadherin (89,90).

Here we characterized the generation of a Dsg2 intracellular fragment in the context of intestinal inflammation and demonstrate that the presence of this fragment alone is sufficient to directly influence apoptotic regulatory pathways (**Figure 2.9**). This

mechanism is fairly unique within the literature in terms of the identity of the cadherin involved, the organismal context of the system interrogated, the nature of the signaling mechanism itself, and the type of cellular function being regulated. We thereby lay the groundwork for a wider range of possibilities for future research into cadherin mediated signaling.

Final conclusions:

These studies provide a new mechanism by which intestinal epithelial homeostasis may be altered in the context of inflammatory pathobiology as well as highlight the diversity of cadherin mediated signaling. The disruption of enterocyte homeostasis, especially apoptosis, is a clear contributor to the overall pathobiology of chronic inflammatory disorders of the intestine such as inflammatory bowel disease. Despite this, mechanisms by which intestinal epithelial homeostasis is altered under inflammatory conditions remains incompletely understood. Our studies show that the Dsg2 intracellular fragment acts as a signaling mediator to sensitize cells to apoptosis and is generated in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines. In light of the previously described pro-proliferative roles of the Dsg2 extracellular fragment, these two mechanisms likely cooperate in the inflammatory response and in repair after injury. Thus, the generation of Dsg2 protein fragments in response to inflammatory signaling may play a critical role in the inflammatory response.

References:

- Shklover J, Levy-Adam F, Kurant E. Apoptotic Cell Clearance in Development. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2015;114:297-334. Epub 2015/10/04. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2015.07.024. PubMed PMID: 26431572.
- 2. **Opferman JT**. Apoptosis in the development of the immune system. Cell Death Differ. 2008;15(2):234-42. Epub 2007/06/16. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402182. PubMed PMID: 17571082.
- 3. Cerutti E, Campagnoli MF, Ferretti M, Garelli E, Crescenzio N, Rosolen A, Chiocchetti A, Lenardo MJ, Ramenghi U, Dianzani U. Co-inherited mutations of Fas and caspase-10 in development of the autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. BMC Immunol. 2007;8:28. Epub 2007/11/15. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-8-28. PubMed PMID: 17999750; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2211507.
- 4. **Fisher GH, Rosenberg FJ, Straus SE, Dale JK, Middelton LA, Lin AY, Strober W, Lenardo MJ, Puck JM**. Dominant interfering Fas gene mutations impair apoptosis in a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. Cell. 1995;81(6):935-46.
- 5. Wang J, Zheng L, Lobito A, Chan FK-M, Dale J, Sneller M, Yao X, Puck JM, Straus SE, Lenardo MJ. Inherited human Caspase 10 mutations underlie defective lymphocyte and dendritic cell apoptosis in autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome type II. Cell. 1999;98(1):47-58.
- 6. **Trautmann A, Akdis M, Blaser K, Akdis C**. Role of dysregulated apoptosis in atopic dermatitis. Apoptosis. 2000;5(5):425-9.
- 7. **Ducasse E, Giannakakis K, Chevalier J, Dasnoy D, Puppinck P, Speziale F, Fiorani P, Faraggiana T**. Dysregulated apoptosis in primary varicose veins. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2005;29(3):316-23.
- 8. **Natori S, Rust C, Stadheim LM, Srinivasan A, Burgart LJ, Gores GJ**. Hepatocyte apoptosis is a pathologic feature of human alcoholic hepatitis. J Hepatol. 2001;34(2):248-53.
- Lee EJ. Cell Proliferation and Apoptosis in ADPKD. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2016;933:25-34. Epub 2016/10/13. doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-2041-4_3. PubMed PMID: 27730432.
- Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol. 2007;35(4):495-516. Epub 2007/06/15. doi: 10.1080/01926230701320337. PubMed PMID: 17562483; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2117903.
- 11. **Zhu W, Chen J, Cong X, Hu S, Chen X**. Hypoxia and serum deprivationinduced apoptosis in mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2006;24(**2**):416-25.
- 12. **Roos WP, Kaina B**. DNA damage-induced cell death: from specific DNA lesions to the DNA damage response and apoptosis. Cancer Lett. 2013;332(2):237-48. Epub 2012/01/21. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.01.007. PubMed PMID: 22261329.
- Takizawa T, Matsukawa S, Higuchi Y, Nakamura S, Nakanishi Y, Fukuda R. Induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis) by influenza virus infection in tissue culture cells. J Gen Virol. 1993;74(11):2347-55.

- 14. **Kim JM, Eckmann L, Savidge TC, Lowe DC, Witthöft T, Kagnoff MF**. Apoptosis of human intestinal epithelial cells after bacterial invasion. J Clin Invest. 1998;102(**10**):1815.
- Gillies LA, Kuwana T. Apoptosis regulation at the mitochondrial outer membrane. J Cell Biochem. 2014;115(4):632-40. Epub 2014/01/24. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24709. PubMed PMID: 24453042.
- 16. **Deng Y, Lin Y, Wu X**. TRAIL-induced apoptosis requires Bax-dependent mitochondrial release of Smac/DIABLO. Genes Dev. 2002;16(1):33-45.
- 17. Flanagan L, Sebastia J, Delgado ME, Lennon JC, Rehm M. Dimerization of Smac is crucial for its mitochondrial retention by XIAP subsequent to mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1813(5):819-26. Epub 2011/03/01. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.02.011. PubMed PMID: 21354220.
- 18. Hegde R, Srinivasula SM, Zhang Z, Wassell R, Mukattash R, Cilenti L, DuBois G, Lazebnik Y, Zervos AS, Fernandes-Alnemri T. Identification of Omi/HtrA2 as a mitochondrial apoptotic serine protease that disrupts inhibitor of apoptosis protein-caspase interaction. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(1):432-8.
- 19. Liu X, Kim CN, Yang J, Jemmerson R, Wang X. Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome c. Cell. 1996;86(1):147-57.
- 20. **Yuan S, Akey CW**. Apoptosome structure, assembly, and procaspase activation. Structure. 2013;21(4):501-15. Epub 2013/04/09. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2013.02.024. PubMed PMID: 23561633; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3644875.
- 21. **Guicciardi ME, Gores GJ**. Life and death by death receptors. FASEB J. 2009;23(6):1625-37. Epub 2009/01/15. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-111005. PubMed PMID: 19141537; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2698650.
- 22. **Dickens LS, Powley IR, Hughes MA, MacFarlane M**. The 'complexities' of life and death: death receptor signalling platforms. Exp Cell Res. 2012;318(**11**):1269-77.
- 23. **Tsuchiya Y, Nakabayashi O, Nakano H**. FLIP the Switch: Regulation of Apoptosis and Necroptosis by cFLIP. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(**12**):30321-41. Epub 2015/12/24. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226232. PubMed PMID: 26694384; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4691174.
- 24. Barnhart BC, Alappat EC, Peter ME, editors. The CD95 type I/type II model. Semin Immunol; 2003: Elsevier.
- 25. **Apraiz A, Boyano MD, Asumendi A**. Cell-centric view of apoptosis and apoptotic cell death-inducing antitumoral strategies. Cancers (Basel). 2011;3(1):1042-80.
- 26. **Chipuk JE, Moldoveanu T, Llambi F, Parsons MJ, Green DR**. The BCL-2 Family Reunion. Molecular cell. 2010;37(**3**):299-310. doi: <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.025</u>.
- 27. **Czabotar PE, Lessene G, Strasser A, Adams JM**. Control of apoptosis by the BCL-2 protein family: implications for physiology and therapy. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2014;15(1):49-64.

- 28. **Farquhar MG, Palade GE**. Junctional complexes in various epithelia. J Cell Biol. 1963;17:375-412. Epub 1963/05/01. PubMed PMID: 13944428; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc2106201.
- 29. Nekrasova O, Green KJ. Desmosome assembly and dynamics. Trends Cell Biol. 2013;23(11):537-46.
- 30. **Green KJ, Simpson CL**. Desmosomes: new perspectives on a classic. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2007;127(**11**):2499-515.
- 31. **Patel DM, Green KJ**. Desmosomes in the heart: a review of clinical and mechanistic analyses. Cell communication & adhesion. 2014;21(3):109-28.
- 32. Ruiz P, Brinkmann V, Ledermann B, Behrend M, Grund C, Thalhammer C, Vogel F, Birchmeier C, Günthert U, Franke WW. Targeted mutation of plakoglobin in mice reveals essential functions of desmosomes in the embryonic heart. The Journal of cell biology. 1996;135(1):215-25.
- 33. **Harris TJ, Tepass U**. Adherens junctions: from molecules to morphogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(7):502-14. doi: 10.1038/nrm2927. PubMed PMID: 20571587.
- Shapiro L, Weis WI. Structure and biochemistry of cadherins and catenins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2009;1(3):a003053. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a003053. PubMed PMID: 20066110; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2773639.
- 35. **Pandya P, Orgaz JL, Sanz-Moreno V**. Actomyosin contractility and collective migration: may the force be with you. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2017;48:87-96. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.06.006. PubMed PMID: 28715714.
- Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/β-catenin signaling and disease. Cell. 2012;149(6):1192-205.
- Kourtidis A, Lu R, Pence LJ, Anastasiadis PZ. A central role for cadherin signaling in cancer. Exp Cell Res. 2017;358(1):78-85. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.04.006. PubMed PMID: 28412244; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5544584.
- 38. Solanas G, Porta-de-la-Riva M, Agusti C, Casagolda D, Sanchez-Aguilera F, Larriba MJ, Pons F, Peiro S, Escriva M, Munoz A, Dunach M, de Herreros AG, Baulida J. E-cadherin controls beta-catenin and NF-kappaB transcriptional activity in mesenchymal gene expression. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 13):2224-34. Epub 2008/06/21. doi: 10.1242/jcs.021667. PubMed PMID: 18565826.
- Maher MT, Flozak AS, Stocker AM, Chenn A, Gottardi CJ. Activity of the beta-catenin phosphodestruction complex at cell-cell contacts is enhanced by cadherin-based adhesion. J Cell Biol. 2009;186(2):219-28. Epub 2009/07/22. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200811108. PubMed PMID: 19620634; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2717642.
- 40. **Kim N-G, Koh E, Chen X, Gumbiner BM**. E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011;108(**29**):11930-5.
- Howard S, Deroo T, Fujita Y, Itasaki N. A positive role of cadherin in Wnt/beta-catenin signalling during epithelial-mesenchymal transition. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e23899. Epub 2011/09/13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023899. PubMed PMID: 21909376; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3166074.

- 42. Rudini N, Felici A, Giampietro C, Lampugnani M, Corada M, Swirsding K, Garre M, Liebner S, Letarte M, ten Dijke P, Dejana E. VE-cadherin is a critical endothelial regulator of TGF-beta signalling. EMBO J. 2008;27(7):993-1004. Epub 2008/03/14. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.46. PubMed PMID: 18337748; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2323269.
- Grazia Lampugnani M, Zanetti A, Corada M, Takahashi T, Balconi G, Breviario F, Orsenigo F, Cattelino A, Kemler R, Daniel TO, Dejana E. Contact inhibition of VEGF-induced proliferation requires vascular endothelial cadherin, beta-catenin, and the phosphatase DEP-1/CD148. J Cell Biol. 2003;161(4):793-804. Epub 2003/05/29. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200209019. PubMed PMID: 12771128; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2199373.
- 44. **Zhang J, Shemezis JR, McQuinn ER, Wang J, Sverdlov M, Chenn A**. AKT activation by N-cadherin regulates beta-catenin signaling and neuronal differentiation during cortical development. Neural Dev. 2013;8:7. Epub 2013/04/27. doi: 10.1186/1749-8104-8-7. PubMed PMID: 23618343; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3658902.
- 45. Lin Z, Zhang C, Zhang M, Xu D, Fang Y, Zhou Z, Chen X, Qin N, Zhang X. Targeting cadherin-17 inactivates Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling and inhibits cell proliferation in gastric cancer. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e85296. Epub 2014/01/28. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085296. PubMed PMID: 24465527; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3896370.
- Kolegraff K, Nava P, Helms MN, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Loss of desmocollin-2 confers a tumorigenic phenotype to colonic epithelial cells through activation of Akt/beta-catenin signaling. Molecular biology of the cell. 2011;22(8):1121-34. Epub 2011/02/18. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E10-10-0845. PubMed PMID: 21325624; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3078068.
- 47. Kamekura R, Kolegraff KN, Nava P, Hilgarth RS, Feng M, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Loss of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein-2 suppresses colon cancer cell proliferation through EGFR signaling. Oncogene. 2014;33(36):4531-6. Epub 2013/10/30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.442. PubMed PMID: 24166502; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4061272.
- 48. Brennan D, Hu Y, Joubeh S, Choi YW, Whitaker-Menezes D, O'Brien T, Uitto J, Rodeck U, Mahoney MG. Suprabasal Dsg2 expression in transgenic mouse skin confers a hyperproliferative and apoptosis-resistant phenotype to keratinocytes. Journal of cell science. 2007;120(Pt 5):758-71. Epub 2007/02/08. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03392. PubMed PMID: 17284515.
- 49. Kamekura R, Nava P, Feng M, Quiros M, Nishio H, Weber DA, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Inflammation-induced desmoglein-2 ectodomain shedding compromises the mucosal barrier. Molecular biology of the cell. 2015;26(18):3165-77. Epub 2015/08/01. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E15-03-0147. PubMed PMID: 26224314; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc4569309.
- 50. Najy AJ, Day KC, Day ML. The ectodomain shedding of E-cadherin by ADAM15 supports ErbB receptor activation. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(26):18393-401. Epub 2008/04/25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801329200. PubMed PMID: 18434311; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2440598.

- Cui T, Chen Y, Yang L, Knosel T, Huber O, Pacyna-Gengelbach M, Petersen I. The p53 target gene desmocollin 3 acts as a novel tumor suppressor through inhibiting EGFR/ERK pathway in human lung cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2012;33(12):2326-33. Epub 2012/09/04. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgs273. PubMed PMID: 22941060.
- 52. Arulanandam R, Vultur A, Cao J, Carefoot E, Elliott BE, Truesdell PF, Larue L, Feracci H, Raptis L. Cadherin-cadherin engagement promotes cell survival via Rac1/Cdc42 and signal transducer and activator of transcription-3. Mol Cancer Res. 2009;7(8):1310-27. Epub 2009/08/13. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-08-0469. PubMed PMID: 19671682.
- 53. Lu M, Marsters S, Ye X, Luis E, Gonzalez L, Ashkenazi A. E-cadherin couples death receptors to the cytoskeleton to regulate apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2014;54(6):987-98. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.04.029. PubMed PMID: 24882208.
- 54. **Ferreira AC, Suriano G, Mendes N, Gomes B, Wen X, Carneiro F, Seruca R, Machado JC**. E-cadherin impairment increases cell survival through Notchdependent upregulation of Bcl-2. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21(2):334-43. Epub 2011/10/13. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr469. PubMed PMID: 21989054.
- 55. Bedzhov I, Liszewska E, Kanzler B, Stemmler MP. Igf1r signaling is indispensable for preimplantation development and is activated via a novel function of E-cadherin. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(3):e1002609. Epub 2012/04/06. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002609. PubMed PMID: 22479204; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3315466.
- 56. Giampietro C, Taddei A, Corada M, Sarra-Ferraris GM, Alcalay M, Cavallaro U, Orsenigo F, Lampugnani MG, Dejana E. Overlapping and divergent signaling pathways of N-cadherin and VE-cadherin in endothelial cells. Blood. 2012;119(9):2159-70. Epub 2012/01/17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-381012. PubMed PMID: 22246030.
- 57. Hawkins K, Mohamet L, Ritson S, Merry CL, Ward CM. E-cadherin and, in its absence, N-cadherin promotes Nanog expression in mouse embryonic stem cells via STAT3 phosphorylation. Stem Cells. 2012;30(9):1842-51. Epub 2012/06/15. doi: 10.1002/stem.1148. PubMed PMID: 22696497.
- 58. **Segal JM, Ward CM**. Novel peptides for deciphering structural and signalling functions of E-cadherin in mouse embryonic stem cells2017;7:41827. doi: 10.1038/srep41827

https://www.nature.com/articles/srep41827#supplementary-information.

- 59. McCusker C, Cousin H, Neuner R, Alfandari D. Extracellular cleavage of cadherin-11 by ADAM metalloproteases is essential for Xenopus cranial neural crest cell migration. Mol Biol Cell. 2009;20(1):78-89. Epub 2008/10/24. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E08-05-0535. PubMed PMID: 18946084; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2613130.
- Harmon RM, Simpson CL, Johnson JL, Koetsier JL, Dubash AD, Najor NA, Sarig O, Sprecher E, Green KJ. Desmoglein-1/Erbin interaction suppresses ERK activation to support epidermal differentiation. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2013;123(4):1556-70. Epub 2013/03/26. doi: 10.1172/jci65220. PubMed PMID: 23524970; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3613912.

- 61. Getsios S, Simpson CL, Kojima S, Harmon R, Sheu LJ, Dusek RL, Cornwell M, Green KJ. Desmoglein 1-dependent suppression of EGFR signaling promotes epidermal differentiation and morphogenesis. The Journal of cell biology. 2009;185(7):1243-58. Epub 2009/06/24. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200809044. PubMed PMID: 19546243; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2712955.
- 62. **Dubash AD, Koetsier JL, Amargo EV, Najor NA, Harmon RM, Green KJ**. The GEF Bcr activates RhoA/MAL signaling to promote keratinocyte differentiation via desmoglein-1. The Journal of cell biology. 2013;202(4):653-66. Epub 2013/08/14. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201304133. PubMed PMID: 23940119; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3747303.
- 63. Johnson JL, Koetsier JL, Sirico A, Agidi AT, Antonini D, Missero C, Green KJ. The desmosomal protein desmoglein 1 aids recovery of epidermal differentiation after acute UV light exposure. The Journal of investigative dermatology. 2014;134(8):2154-62. Epub 2014/03/07. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.124. PubMed PMID: 24594668; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4102640.
- 64. **Basak S, Desai DJ, Rho EH, Ramos R, Maurel P, Kim HA**. E-cadherin enhances neuregulin signaling and promotes Schwann cell myelination. Glia. 2015;63(9):1522-36. Epub 2015/05/20. doi: 10.1002/glia.22822. PubMed PMID: 25988855.
- 65. **Parnaud G, Lavallard V, Bedat B, Matthey-Doret D, Morel P, Berney T, Bosco D**. Cadherin engagement improves insulin secretion of single human betacells. Diabetes. 2015;64(3):887-96. Epub 2014/10/04. doi: 10.2337/db14-0257. PubMed PMID: 25277393.
- 66. **Park SY, Shin J-H, Kee S-H**. E-cadherin expression increases cell proliferation by regulating energy metabolism through nuclear factor-κB in AGS cells. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(9):1769-77. doi: 10.1111/cas.13321.
- 67. **Bays JL, Campbell HK, Heidema C, Sebbagh M, DeMali KA**. Linking Ecadherin mechanotransduction to cell metabolism through force-mediated activation of AMPK. Nat Cell Biol. 2017;19(6):724-31. doi: 10.1038/ncb3537 <u>http://www.nature.com/ncb/journal/v19/n6/abs/ncb3537.html#supplementaryinformation</u>.
- Bae GY, Choi SJ, Lee JS, Jo J, Lee J, Kim J, Cha HJ. Loss of E-cadherin activates EGFR-MEK/ERK signaling, which promotes invasion via the ZEB1/MMP2 axis in non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. 2013;4(12):2512-22. Epub 2013/12/10. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1463. PubMed PMID: 24318272; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3926845.
- 69. Conant K, Daniele S, Bozzelli PL, Abdi T, Edwards A, Szklarczyk A, Olchefske I, Ottenheimer D, Maguire-Zeiss K. Matrix metalloproteinase activity stimulates N-cadherin shedding and the soluble N-cadherin ectodomain promotes classical microglial activation. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):56. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0827-4.
- Tsang SM, Brown L, Gadmor H, Gammon L, Fortune F, Wheeler A, Wan H. Desmoglein 3 acting as an upstream regulator of Rho GTPases, Rac-1/Cdc42 in the regulation of actin organisation and dynamics. Exp Cell Res. 2012;318(18):2269-83. Epub 2012/07/17. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.07.002. PubMed PMID: 22796473; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4022105.

- 71. Tsang SM, Brown L, Lin K, Liu L, Piper K, O'Toole EA, Grose R, Hart IR, Garrod DR, Fortune F, Wan H. Non-junctional human desmoglein 3 acts as an upstream regulator of Src in E-cadherin adhesion, a pathway possibly involved in the pathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris. J Pathol. 2012;227(1):81-93. Epub 2012/02/02. doi: 10.1002/path.3982. PubMed PMID: 22294297.
- 72. **Onder TT, Gupta PB, Mani SA, Yang J, Lander ES, Weinberg RA**. Loss of E-cadherin promotes metastasis via multiple downstream transcriptional pathways. Cancer research. 2008;68(**10**):3645-54.
- 73. Schulze K, Galichet A, Sayar BS, Scothern A, Howald D, Zymann H, Siffert M, Zenhausern D, Bolli R, Koch PJ, Garrod D, Suter MM, Muller EJ. An adult passive transfer mouse model to study desmoglein 3 signaling in pemphigus vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(2):346-55. Epub 2011/10/01. doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.299. PubMed PMID: 21956125; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3258361.
- Mao X, Sano Y, Park JM, Payne AS. p38 MAPK activation is downstream of the loss of intercellular adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(2):1283-91. Epub 2010/11/17. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.172874. PubMed PMID: 21078676; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3020736.
- 75. Bektas M, Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Amagai M, Rubenstein DS. A pathophysiologic role for epidermal growth factor receptor in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(13):9447-56. Epub 2013/02/14. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.438010. PubMed PMID: 23404504; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3611014.
- 76. Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Kitajima Y, Sato-Nagai M, Grando SA. Desmoglein versus non-desmoglein signaling in pemphigus acantholysis: characterization of novel signaling pathways downstream of pemphigus vulgaris antigens. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(18):13804-12. Epub 2007/03/09. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611365200. PubMed PMID: 17344213.
- 77. Schmidt E, Waschke J. Apoptosis in pemphigus. Autoimmun Rev. 2009;8(7):533-7. Epub 2009/02/05. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2009.01.011. PubMed PMID: 19189866.
- 78. Sharma P, Mao X, Payne AS. Beyond steric hindrance: the role of adhesion signaling pathways in the pathogenesis of pemphigus. J Dermatol Sci. 2007;48(1):1-14. Epub 2007/06/19. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2007.05.005. PubMed PMID: 17574391.
- 79. **Spindler V, Waschke J**. Desmosomal cadherins and signaling: lessons from autoimmune disease. Cell Commun Adhes. 2014;21(1):77-84. Epub 2014/01/28. doi: 10.3109/15419061.2013.877000. PubMed PMID: 24460203.
- 80. Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Muller EJ. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. EMBO J. 2006;25(14):3298-309. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601224. PubMed PMID: 16871158; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1523185.
- 81. **Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Bektas M, Lee HE, Chua M, Diaz LA, Rubenstein DS**. p38MAPK signaling and desmoglein-3 internalization are linked events in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(**12**):8936-41. Epub 2010/01/23.

doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.087999. PubMed PMID: 20093368; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2838315.

- 82. **Gil MP, Modol T, Espana A, Lopez-Zabalza MJ**. Inhibition of FAK prevents blister formation in the neonatal mouse model of pemphigus vulgaris. Exp Dermatol. 2012;21(4):254-9. Epub 2012/02/11. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2012.01441.x. PubMed PMID: 22320676.
- Li N, Zhao M, Wang J, Liu Z, Diaz LA. Involvement of the apoptotic mechanism in pemphigus foliaceus autoimmune injury of the skin. J Immunol. 2009;182(1):711-7. Epub 2008/12/26. PubMed PMID: 19109205; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2716799.
- 84. Lee HE, Berkowitz P, Jolly PS, Diaz LA, Chua MP, Rubenstein DS. Biphasic activation of p38MAPK suggests that apoptosis is a downstream event in pemphigus acantholysis. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(18):12524-32. Epub 2009/03/10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808204200. PubMed PMID: 19270308; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2673318.
- 85. Pretel M, Espana A, Marquina M, Pelacho B, Lopez-Picazo JM, Lopez-Zabalza MJ. An imbalance in Akt/mTOR is involved in the apoptotic and acantholytic processes in a mouse model of pemphigus vulgaris. Exp Dermatol. 2009;18(9):771-80. Epub 2009/06/26. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009.00893.x. PubMed PMID: 19552768.
- 86. Waschke J, Spindler V, Bruggeman P, Zillikens D, Schmidt G, Drenckhahn
 D. Inhibition of Rho A activity causes pemphigus skin blistering. J Cell Biol. 2006;175(5):721-7. Epub 2006/11/30. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200605125. PubMed PMID: 17130286; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2064672.
- 87. Sherrill JD, Kc K, Wu D, Djukic Z, Caldwell JM, Stucke EM, Kemme KA, Costello MS, Mingler MK, Blanchard C, Collins MH, Abonia JP, Putnam PE, Dellon ES, Orlando RC, Hogan SP, Rothenberg ME. Desmoglein-1 regulates esophageal epithelial barrier function and immune responses in eosinophilic esophagitis. Mucosal Immunol. 2014;7(3):718-29. Epub 2013/11/14. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.90. PubMed PMID: 24220297; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3999291.
- 88. Marambaud P, Shioi J, Serban G, Georgakopoulos A, Sarner S, Nagy V, Baki L, Wen P, Efthimiopoulos S, Shao Z. A presenilin- $1/\gamma$ secretase cleavage releases the E-cadherin intracellular domain and regulates disassembly of adherens junctions. The EMBO journal. 2002;21(8):1948-56.
- 89. Ferber EC, Kajita M, Wadlow A, Tobiansky L, Niessen C, Ariga H, Daniel J, Fujita Y. A role for the cleaved cytoplasmic domain of E-cadherin in the nucleus. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(19):12691-700. Epub 2008/03/22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708887200. PubMed PMID: 18356166; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2442316.
- Shoval I, Ludwig A, Kalcheim C. Antagonistic roles of full-length N-cadherin and its soluble BMP cleavage product in neural crest delamination. Development. 2007;134(3):491-501. Epub 2006/12/23. doi: 10.1242/dev.02742. PubMed PMID: 17185320.
- 91. **Dusek RL, Getsios S, Chen F, Park JK, Amargo EV, Cryns VL, Green KJ**. The differentiation-dependent desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 1 is a novel

caspase-3 target that regulates apoptosis in keratinocytes. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(6):3614-24. Epub 2005/11/16. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508258200. PubMed PMID: 16286477.

- 92. Kashef J, Kohler A, Kuriyama S, Alfandari D, Mayor R, Wedlich D. Cadherin-11 regulates protrusive activity in Xenopus cranial neural crest cells upstream of Trio and the small GTPases. Genes Dev. 2009;23(12):1393-8. Epub 2009/06/17. doi: 10.1101/gad.519409. PubMed PMID: 19528317; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2701577.
- 93. Schmitz H, Barmeyer C, Gitter AH, Wullstein F, Bentzel CJ, Fromm M, Riecken EO, Schulzke JD. Epithelial barrier and transport function of the colon in ulcerative colitis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;915:312-26. Epub 2001/02/24. PubMed PMID: 11193594.
- 94. Laukoetter MG, Nava P, Nusrat A. Role of the intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel disease. World journal of gastroenterology: WJG. 2008;14(3):401.
- 95. **Ma TY**. Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Dysfunction in Crohn's Disease. Exp Biol Med. 1997;214(**4**):318-27. doi: 10.3181/00379727-214-44099.
- 96. **Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK**. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2007;448:427. doi: 10.1038/nature06005.
- 97. Zeissig S, Bojarski C, Buergel N, Mankertz J, Zeitz M, Fromm M, Schulzke J. Downregulation of epithelial apoptosis and barrier repair in active Crohn's disease by tumour necrosis factor α antibody treatment. Gut. 2004;53(9):1295-302.
- 98. Qiu W, Wu B, Wang X, Buchanan ME, Regueiro MD, Hartman DJ, Schoen RE, Yu J, Zhang L. PUMA-mediated intestinal epithelial apoptosis contributes to ulcerative colitis in humans and mice. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2011;121(5):1722.
- 99. **Sipos F, Molnár B, Zágoni T, Berczi L, Tulassay Z**. Growth in epithelial cell proliferation and apoptosis correlates specifically to the inflammation activity of inflammatory bowel diseases: ulcerative colitis shows specific p53-and EGFR expression alterations. Dis Colon Rectum. 2005;48(4):775-86.
- 100. Araki Y, Mukaisyo K-I, Sugihara H, Fujiyama Y, Hattori T. Increased apoptosis and decreased proliferation of colonic epithelium in dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. Oncol Rep. 2010;24(4):869-74.
- 101. **Hagiwara C, Tanaka M, Kudo H**. Increase in colorectal epithelial apoptotic cells in patients with ulcerative colitis ultimately requiring surgery. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2002;17(7):758-64.
- 102. Vlantis K, Wullaert A, Polykratis A, Kondylis V, Dannappel M, Schwarzer R, Welz P, Corona T, Walczak H, Weih F. NEMO prevents RIP kinase 1mediated epithelial cell death and chronic intestinal inflammation by NF-κBdependent and-independent functions. Immunity. 2016;44(3):553-67.
- 103. Nenci A, Becker C, Wullaert A, Gareus R, van Loo G, Danese S, Huth M, Nikolaev A, Neufert C, Madison B. Epithelial NEMO links innate immunity to chronic intestinal inflammation. Nature. 2007;446(7135):557-61.
- 104. Vetrano S, Rescigno M, Cera MR, Correale C, Rumio C, Doni A, Fantini M, Sturm A, Borroni E, Repici A. Unique role of junctional adhesion molecule-a in

maintaining mucosal homeostasis in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2008;135(1):173-84.

- 105. Chin AC, Vergnolle N, MacNaughton WK, Wallace JL, Hollenberg MD, Buret AG. Proteinase-activated receptor 1 activation induces epithelial apoptosis and increases intestinal permeability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2003;100(19):11104-9.
- 106. Di Sabatino A, Ciccocioppo R, Luinetti O, Ricevuti L, Morera R, Cifone MG, Solcia E, Corazza GR. Increased enterocyte apoptosis in inflamed areas of Crohn's disease. Dis Colon Rectum. 2003;46(11):1498-507.
- 107. Kaser A, Lee A-H, Franke A, Glickman JN, Zeissig S, Tilg H, Nieuwenhuis EE, Higgins DE, Schreiber S, Glimcher LH. XBP1 links ER stress to intestinal inflammation and confers genetic risk for human inflammatory bowel disease. Cell. 2008;134(5):743-56.
- 108. **Ghobrial IM, Witzig TE, Adjei AA**. Targeting apoptosis pathways in cancer therapy. CA Cancer J Clin. 2005;55(3):178-94.
- 109. **Marambaud P, Wen PH, Dutt A, Shioi J, Takashima A, Siman R, Robakis** NK. A CBP binding transcriptional repressor produced by the $PS1/\epsilon$ -cleavage of N-cadherin is inhibited by PS1 FAD mutations. Cell. 2003;114(5):635-45.
- Schulz B, Pruessmeyer J, Maretzky T, Ludwig A, Blobel CP, Saftig P, Reiss K. ADAM10 regulates endothelial permeability and T-Cell transmigration by proteolysis of vascular endothelial cadherin. Circ Res. 2008;102(10):1192-201.
- 111. **Klessner JL, Desai BV, Amargo EV, Getsios S, Green KJ**. EGFR and ADAMs cooperate to regulate shedding and endocytic trafficking of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 2. Mol Biol Cell. 2009;20(1):328-37.
- 112. Sidibé A, Mannic T, Arboleas M, Subileau M, Gulino-Debrac D, Bouillet L, Jan M, Vandhuick T, Le Loët X, Vittecoq O. Soluble VE-cadherin in rheumatoid arthritis patients correlates with disease activity: Evidence for tumor necrosis factor α-induced VE-cadherin cleavage. Arthritis & Rheumatology. 2012;64(1):77-87.
- 113. **Riedl SJ, Salvesen GS**. The apoptosome: signalling platform of cell death. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8(**5**):405.
- 114. **Chai J, Shi Y**. Apoptosome and inflammasome: conserved machineries for caspase activation. National Science Review. 2014;1(1):101-18.
- 115. **Garrod D, Chidgey M**. Desmosome structure, composition and function. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes. 2008;1778(**3**):572-87.
- 116. Kamekura R, Nava P, Feng M, Quiros M, Nishio H, Weber DA, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Inflammation-induced desmoglein-2 ectodomain shedding compromises the mucosal barrier. Mol Biol Cell. 2015;26(18):3165-77.
- 117. Kim NG, Koh E, Chen X, Gumbiner BM. E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(29):11930-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103345108. PubMed PMID: 21730131; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3141988.
- 118. **Perrais M, Chen X, Perez-Moreno M, Gumbiner BM**. E-cadherin homophilic ligation inhibits cell growth and epidermal growth factor receptor signaling independently of other cell interactions. Mol Biol Cell. 2007;18(6):2013-25. Epub

2007/03/30. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-04-0348. PubMed PMID: 17392517; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1877107.

- 119. Sherrill JD, Kc K, Wu D, Djukic Z, Caldwell JM, Stucke EM, Kemme KA, Costello MS, Mingler MK, Blanchard C, Collins MH, Abonia JP, Putnam PE, Dellon ES, Orlando RC, Hogan SP, Rothenberg ME. Desmoglein-1 regulates esophageal epithelial barrier function and immune responses in eosinophilic esophagitis. Mucosal Immunol. 2014;7(3):718-29. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.90. PubMed PMID: WOS:000334923700025.
- 120. Tsang SM, Brown L, Lin K, Liu L, Piper K, O'Toole EA, Grose R, Hart IR, Garrod DR, Fortune F, Wan H. Non-junctional human desmoglein 3 acts as an upstream regulator of Src in E-cadherin adhesion, a pathway possibly involved in the pathogenesis of pemphigus vulgaris. J Pathol. 2012;227(1):81-93. doi: 10.1002/path.3982. PubMed PMID: WOS:000302470600010.
- 121. Tsang SM, Brown L, Gadmor H, Gammon L, Fortune F, Wheeler A, Wan H. Desmoglein 3 acting as an upstream regulator of Rho GTPases, Rac-1/Cdc42 in the regulation of actin organisation and dynamics. Experimental Cell Research. 2012;318(18):2269-83. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.07.002. PubMed PMID: WOS:000308259900001.
- 122. Luissint AC, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Inflammation and the Intestinal Barrier: Leukocyte-Epithelial Cell Interactions, Cell Junction Remodeling, and Mucosal Repair. Gastroenterology. 2016;151(4):616-32. Epub 2016/07/21. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.07.008. PubMed PMID: 27436072; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5317033.
- 123. **Sartor RB**. Mechanisms of disease: pathogenesis of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Nature clinical practice Gastroenterology & hepatology. 2006;3(7):390-407.
- 124. Laukoetter MG, Bruewer M, Nusrat A. Regulation of the intestinal epithelial barrier by the apical junctional complex. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2006;22(2):85-9. Epub 2006/02/08. doi: 10.1097/01.mog.0000203864.48255.4f. PubMed PMID: 16462161.
- 125. Schlegel N, Meir M, Heupel WM, Holthofer B, Leube RE, Waschke J. Desmoglein 2-mediated adhesion is required for intestinal epithelial barrier integrity. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2010;298(5):G774-83. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00239.2009. PubMed PMID: 20224006.
- Nava P, Kamekura R, Nusrat A. Cleavage of transmembrane junction proteins and their role in regulating epithelial homeostasis. Tissue Barriers. 2013;1(2):e24783. Epub 2014/03/26. doi: 10.4161/tisb.24783. PubMed PMID: 24665393; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPmc3879235.
- 127. Maretzky T, Reiss K, Ludwig A, Buchholz J, Scholz F, Proksch E, de Strooper B, Hartmann D, Saftig P. ADAM10 mediates E-cadherin shedding and regulates epithelial cell-cell adhesion, migration, and beta-catenin translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(26):9182-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500918102. PubMed PMID: 15958533; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1166595.
- 128. Lynch CC, Vargo-Gogola T, Matrisian LM, Fingleton B. Cleavage of E-Cadherin by Matrix Metalloproteinase-7 Promotes Cellular Proliferation in

Nontransformed Cell Lines via Activation of RhoA. J Oncol. 2010;2010:530745. doi: 10.1155/2010/530745. PubMed PMID: 20628524; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2902104.

- Nava P, Laukoetter MG, Hopkins AM, Laur O, Gerner-Smidt K, Green KJ, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Desmoglein-2: a novel regulator of apoptosis in the intestinal epithelium. Mol Biol Cell. 2007;18(11):4565-78. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-05-0426. PubMed PMID: 17804817; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2043542.
- 130. Ferber EC, Kajita M, Wadlow A, Tobiansky L, Niessen C, Ariga H, Daniel J, Fujita Y. A role for the cleaved cytoplasmic domain of E-cadherin in the nucleus. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2008;283(19):12691-700.
- 131. **Elmore S**. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicologic pathology. 2007;35(4):495-516.
- 132. **Czabotar PE, Lessene G, Strasser A, Adams JM**. Control of apoptosis by the BCL-2 protein family: implications for physiology and therapy. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2014;15(1):49-63. doi: 10.1038/nrm3722.
- 133. Getsios S, Amargo EV, Dusek RL, Ishii K, Sheu L, Godsel LM, Green KJ. Coordinated expression of desmoglein 1 and desmocollin 1 regulates intercellular adhesion. Differentiation; research in biological diversity. 2004;72(8):419-33. Epub 2004/12/21. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-0436.2004.07208008.x. PubMed PMID: 15606501.
- 134. **Meijer MJ, Mieremet-Ooms MA, van der Zon A, van Duijn W, van Hogezand RA, Sier CF, Hommes DW, Lamers CB, Verspaget HW**. Increased mucosal matrix metalloproteinase-1,-2,-3 and-9 activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease and the relation with Crohn's disease phenotype. Digestive and Liver Disease. 2007;39(8):733-9.
- Rios-Doria J, Day KC, Kuefer R, Rashid MG, Chinnaiyan AM, Rubin MA, Day ML. The role of calpain in the proteolytic cleavage of E-cadherin in prostate and mammary epithelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2003;278(2):1372-9. Epub 2002/10/24. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208772200. PubMed PMID: 12393869.
- 136. **Chua BT, Guo K, Li P**. Direct cleavage by the calcium-activated protease calpain can lead to inactivation of caspases. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2000;275(7):5131-5. Epub 2000/02/15. PubMed PMID: 10671558.
- 137. Sheridan JP, Marsters SA, Pitti RM, Gurney A, Skubatch M, Baldwin D, Ramakrishnan L, Gray CL, Baker K, Wood WI, Goddard AD, Godowski P, Ashkenazi A. Control of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by a family of signaling and decoy receptors. Science. 1997;277(5327):818-21. Epub 1997/08/08. PubMed PMID: 9242611.
- 138. Pasparakis M. Regulation of tissue homeostasis by NF-kappaB signalling: implications for inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(11):778-88. Epub 2009/10/27. doi: 10.1038/nri2655. PubMed PMID: 19855404.
- 139. Reiss K, Maretzky T, Ludwig A, Tousseyn T, De Strooper B, Hartmann D, Saftig P. ADAM10 cleavage of N-cadherin and regulation of cell –cell adhesion and β-catenin nuclear signalling. The EMBO journal. 2005;24(4):742-52.

- 140. **Mayerle J, Schnekenburger J, Krüger B, Kellermann J, Ruthenbürger M, Weiss FU, Nalli A, Domschke W, Lerch MM**. Extracellular cleavage of Ecadherin by leukocyte elastase during acute experimental pancreatitis in rats. Gastroenterology. 2005;129(4):1251-67.
- 141. Flemming S, Burkard N, Renschler M, Vielmuth F, Meir M, Schick MA, Wunder C, Germer C-T, Spindler V, Waschke J. Soluble VE-cadherin is involved in endothelial barrier breakdown in systemic inflammation and sepsis. Cardiovascular research. 2015;107(1):32-44.
- 142. Steinhusen U, Weiske J, Badock V, Tauber R, Bommert K, Huber O. Cleavage and shedding of E-cadherin after induction of apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(7):4972-80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006102200. PubMed PMID: 11076937.
- 143. Brou C, Logeat F, Gupta N, Bessia C, LeBail O, Doedens JR, Cumano A, Roux P, Black RA, Israël A. A novel proteolytic cleavage involved in Notch signaling: the role of the disintegrin-metalloprotease TACE. Molecular cell. 2000;5(2):207-16.
- 144. De Strooper B, Annaert W, Cupers P, Saftig P, Craessaerts K, Mumm JS, Schroeter EH, Schrijvers V, Wolfe MS, Ray WJ, Goate A, Kopan R. A presenilin-1-dependent gamma-secretase-like protease mediates release of Notch intracellular domain. Nature. 1999;398(6727):518-22. Epub 1999/04/17. doi: 10.1038/19083. PubMed PMID: 10206645.
- 145. Blomgren K, Zhu C, Wang X, Karlsson J-O, Leverin A-L, Bahr BA, Mallard C, Hagberg H. Synergistic Activation of Caspase-3 by m-Calpain after Neonatal Hypoxia-Ischemia A MECHANISM OF "PATHOLOGICAL APOPTOSIS"? Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2001;276(13):10191-8.
- 146. **McGinnis KM, Gnegy ME, Park YH, Mukerjee N, Wang KK**. Procaspase-3 and poly (ADP) ribose polymerase (PARP) are calpain substrates. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1999;263(1):94-9.
- 147. **Ruiz-Vela A, de Buitrago GG, Martínez C**. Implication of calpain in caspase activation during B cell clonal deletion. The EMBO journal. 1999;18(18):4988-98.
- 148. Cirillo N, Lanza M, De Rosa A, Cammarota M, La Gatta A, Gombos F, Lanza A. The most widespread desmosomal cadherin, desmoglein 2, is a novel target of caspase 3-mediated apoptotic machinery. J Cell Biochem. 2008;103(2):598-606. doi: 10.1002/jcb.21431. PubMed PMID: 17559062.
- Berger AB, Sexton KB, Bogyo M. Commonly used caspase inhibitors designed based on substrate specificity profiles lack selectivity. Cell research. 2006;16(12):961.
- 150. **Guicciardi ME, Gores GJ**. Life and death by death receptors. The FASEB Journal. 2009;23(6):1625-37.
- 151. **Ashkenazi A, Holland P, Eckhardt SG**. Ligand-based targeting of apoptosis in cancer: the potential of recombinant human apoptosis ligand 2/tumor necrosis factor–related apoptosis-inducing ligand (rhApo2L/TRAIL). Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2008;26(**21**):3621-30.
- 152. **Friesen C, Herr I, Krammer PH, Debatin K-M**. Involvement of the CD95 (APO–1/Fas) receptor/ligand system in drug–induced apoptosis in leukemia cells. Nature medicine. 1996;2(**5**):574-7.

- 153. Kolegraff K, Nava P, Laur O, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. Characterization of fulllength and proteolytic cleavage fragments of desmoglein-2 in native human colon and colonic epithelial cell lines. Cell adhesion & migration. 2011;5(4):306-14.
- 154. **Ivanov AI, Bachar M, Babbin BA, Adelstein RS, Nusrat A, Parkos CA**. A unique role for nonmuscle myosin heavy chain IIA in regulation of epithelial apical junctions. PLoS One. 2007;2(8):e658.
- 155. Nava P, Capaldo CT, Koch S, Kolegraff K, Rankin CR, Farkas AE, Feasel ME, Li L, Addis C, Parkos CA, Nusrat A. JAM-A regulates epithelial proliferation through Akt/beta-catenin signalling. EMBO reports. 2011;12(4):314-20. Epub 2011/03/05. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.16. PubMed PMID: 21372850; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3077244.
- 156. Liu Y, Nusrat A, Schnell FJ, Reaves TA, Walsh S, Pochet M, Parkos CA. Human junction adhesion molecule regulates tight junction resealing in epithelia. J Cell Sci. 2000;113 (Pt 13):2363-74. Epub 2000/06/15. PubMed PMID: 10852816.
- 157. Marambaud P, Shioi J, Serban G, Georgakopoulos A, Sarner S, Nagy V, Baki L, Wen P, Efthimiopoulos S, Shao Z, Wisniewski T, Robakis NK. A presenilin-1/gamma-secretase cleavage releases the E-cadherin intracellular domain and regulates disassembly of adherens junctions. EMBO J. 2002;21(8):1948-56. Epub 2002/04/16. doi: 10.1093/emboj/21.8.1948. PubMed PMID: 11953314; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC125968.
- 158. **Marambaud P, Wen PH, Dutt A, Shioi J, Takashima A, Siman R, Robakis** NK. A CBP binding transcriptional repressor produced by the PS1/epsiloncleavage of N-cadherin is inhibited by PS1 FAD mutations. Cell. 2003;114. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2003.08.008.
- 159. **Zhong Q, Gao W, Du F, Wang X**. Mule/ARF-BP1, a BH3-only E3 ubiquitin ligase, catalyzes the polyubiquitination of Mcl-1 and regulates apoptosis. Cell. 2005;121(**7**):1085-95.
- 160. Dusek RL, Godsel LM, Chen F, Strohecker AM, Getsios S, Harmon R, Muller EJ, Caldelari R, Cryns VL, Green KJ. Plakoglobin deficiency protects keratinocytes from apoptosis. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127(4):792-801. Epub 2006/11/18. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700615. PubMed PMID: 17110936.
- 161. Weiske J, Schöneberg T, Schröder W, Hatzfeld M, Tauber R, Huber O. The fate of desmosomal proteins in apoptotic cells. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(44):41175-81.
- 162. Xiao K, Allison DF, Kottke MD, Summers S, Sorescu GP, Faundez V, Kowalczyk AP. Mechanisms of VE-cadherin processing and degradation in microvascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(21):19199-208.
- 163. Berg D, Stuhmer T, Siegmund D, Muller N, Giner T, Dittrich-Breiholz O, Kracht M, Bargou R, Wajant H. Oligomerized tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand strongly induces cell death in myeloma cells, but also activates proinflammatory signaling pathways. Febs j. 2009;276(23):6912-27. Epub 2009/11/10. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07388.x. PubMed PMID: 19895579.

- 164. Tang W, Wang W, Zhang Y, Liu S, Liu Y, Zheng D. TRAIL receptor mediates inflammatory cytokine release in an NF-κB-dependent manner. Cell Res. 2009;19(6):758-67.
- 165. **Tang W, Wang W, Zhang Y, Liu S, Liu Y, Zheng D**. Tumour necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)- induced chemokine release in both TRAIL-resistant and TRAIL-sensitive cells via nuclear factor kappa B. The FEBS journal. 2009;276(2):581-93.
- 166. Varfolomeev E, Maecker H, Sharp D, Lawrence D, Renz M, Vucic D, Ashkenazi A. Molecular determinants of kinase pathway activation by Apo2 ligand/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(49):40599-608.